

Climatic changes and uplift patterns – past, present and future

S Björck, N-O Svensson Department of Quaternary Geology, University of Lund

November 1992

SVENSK KÄRNBRÄNSLEHANTERING AB SWEDISH NUCLEAR FUEL AND WASTE MANAGEMENT CO BOX 5864 S-102 48 STOCKHOLM TEL 08-665 28 00 TELEX 13108 SKB S TELEFAX 08-661 57 19

CLIMATIC CHANGES AND UPLIFT PATTERNS - PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE

S Björck, N-O Svensson

Department of Quaternary Geology, University of Lund

November 1992

This report concerns a study which was conducted for SKB. The conclusions and viewpoints presented in the report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily coincide with those of the client.

Information on SKB technical reports from 1977-1978 (TR 121), 1979 (TR 79-28), 1980 (TR 80-26), 1981 (TR 81-17), 1982 (TR 82-28), 1983 (TR 83-77), 1984 (TR 85-01), 1985 (TR 85-20), 1986 (TR 86-31), 1987 (TR 87-33), 1988 (TR 88-32), 1989 (TR 89-40), 1990 (TR 90-46) and 1991 (TR 91-64) is available through SKB.

CLIMATIC CHANGES AND UPLIFT PATTERNS - PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE

S Björck, N-O Svensson

Department of Quaternary Geology, University of Lund

1990-09-05

Keywords: Climatic changes, glaciation, deglaciation, land upheaval

i

Abstract

Our knowledge about the Pleistocene (= the last 2.5 million years) climatic changes and their global environmental effects on the Earth system, e.g. the glacial- interglacial cycles, the sea level changes, and the significant crustal movements in glaciated regions, has increased greatly during the last decades. This report outlines the historical background and the present state-ofthe-arts on these matters. Because the driving mechanisms and feed-back effects behind these changes have been more and more discussed in earthscience literature, analysed, and probably also better and better understood, it has become possible to present theoretical models for future climates (not including man's influence on the earth system). The report presents and discusses one such climate model (short of predicting man's future behaviour and its consequent effect on climate) and its likely implications on future climatic and glacial conditions, and bedrock movements, with focus on the Stockholm region. Possibilities for Quaternary geologists to establish and map postglacial fault zones, related to irregular bedrock movements, are also briefly outlined in the report.

Sammanfattning

Vår kunskap om kvartärperiodens glaciala/interglaciala klimatvariationer liksom därav beroende havsytefluktuationer och jordskorperörelser har ökat markant under de senaste årtiondena. I denna rapport beskrivs den historiska bakgrunden liksom det nuvarande kunskapsläget inom detta område. Då klimatets drivkrafter och återkopplingseffekter nu nått viss förståelse har teoretiska modeller för jordens framtida klimat kunnat upprättas. Rapporten presenterar och diskuterar en sådan modell (utan att hänsyn tas till mäniskligt introducerade klimateffekter). Modellen som baseras på observerade periodiska ändringar i vissa jordbaneelement (Milankovitch teorin) förutsäger att jorden är på väg mot en ny istid. Med hjälp av denna klimatmodell uppskattas klimat, nedisning och jordskorperörelser, särskilt i Stockholmsområdet. Rapporten diskuterar även möjligheter att dokumentera och kartlägga postglaciala förkastningszoner och oregelbundna berggrundsrörelser.

Acknowledgement

For the palaeogeographic reconstructions for Fig. 5-3, 5-4, 5-5, SKB has kindly allowed use of digital elevation data. Mr. Magnus Odin at SKB is thanked for his help with the computing and drawing of these reconstructions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 | INTRODUCTION |
|-------|--|
| 2 | PLEISTOCENE CLIMATIC CHANGES |
| 2.1 | SHORT HISTORICAL BACKGROUND |
| 2.2 | MARINE RECORDS — PAST CLIMATE — ASTRONOMICAL |
| | THEORIES |
| 2.2.1 | THE YOUNGER DRYAS — AN ENIGMA OR FUTURE |
| | ANALOGUE? |
| 2.3 | CONCLUSIONS |
| 3 | CLIMATE MODELS |
| 3.1 | A MODEL OF FUTURE CLIMATE |
| 4 | PLEISTOCENE – HOLOCENE SEA LEVEL CHANGES |
| 5 | LATE WEICHSELIAN – HOLOCENE UPLIFT IN SWEDEN |
| 5.1 | SHORT HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TO STUDIES ON |
| | LAND-UPLIFT |
| 5.2 | SEA-LEVEL MEASUREMENTS AS SOURCES OF |
| | INFORMATION ON LAND UPLIFT |
| 5.3 | PRECISION LEVELLINGS |
| 5.4 | SHORELINE STUDIES |
| 5.4.1 | MORPHOLOGICALLY IDENTIFIED SHORELINES |
| 5.4.2 | STRATIGRAPHICALLY DETERMINED SHORELINES 42 |
| 5.5 | NEOTECTONICS |
| 6 | GEOPHYSICAL MODELLING — ISOSTASY/EUSTASY — FUTURE |
| | PROGNOSES |
| 7 | FAULT ZONES |
| 8 | FIELD METHODS FOR ESTABLISHING POSTGLACIAL IRREGULAR |
| | HORIZONTAL/VERTICAL BEDROCK MOVEMENTS - |
| | SOME EXAMPLES |
| 8.1 | STRATIGRAPHIC METHODS |
| 8.2 | MORPHOLOGIC METHODS |
| 8.3 | CONCLUSIONS |
| 9 | GENERAL CONCLUSIONS |
| 9.1 | THE GEOLOGIC DATA |
| 9.2 | IMPLICATIONS AND SPECULATIONS FOR THE FUTURE |
| | REFERENCES |



The aim of this report is to give a brief presentation of the present state-ofthe-arts concerning our knowledge about Pleistocene (= last 2.5 million years) climatic changes, glaciations, possibilities to calculate future glaciations and sea level changes, the Swedish uplift history since deglaciation, possibilities to map any former and future fault zones, possibilities to calculate the effect of future glacial stages on the Swedish bedrock, and finally also to present some means and methods within Quaternary geology which could be used to map differential horizontal and vertical movements in the Swedish bedrock. It would of course require a massive work achievement to be able to give an exhaustive presentation of the above listed subjects. This report can be regarded as an introduction to a very complex, partly enigmatic research field, where certain achievements have to be carried out in order to answer the many questions we still have.

1

Svensson is responsible for chapter 5 and for the editing. Björck is responsible for the remaining chapters.

Earth today (right, top) and during the last ice age (right, below). 20,000 years ago, great ice sheets covered parts of North America, Europe, and Asia, surface waters of the Arctic and parts of the North Atlantic Oceans were frozen, and sea level was more than 100 m lower than it is today. Many parts of the continental shelf became dry land. Drawing by Anastasis Sotiropoulos, based on information compiled by George Denton and other members of the CLIMAP project. From Imbrie and Imbrie (1979). Reprinted with permission from Enslow Publishers. MacMillan Press Ltd. Ice Ages – solving the mystery, 224 pp. By J Imbrie and K P Imbrie 1979.

2 PLEISTOCENE CLIMATIC CHANGES

2.1 SHORT HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

When Louis Agassiz (1840) presented the first scientific evidence (Figure 2-1) that Europe had once been covered by much more extensive glaciers than today, Quaternary Geology gradually emerged as a separate geological subject in many countries where glacial deposits are abundant. This also created interests in glacial environments (e.g. Svalbard, Iceland, Greenland, Antarctica, Arctic Canada, and alpine glacial environments), glacial processes, and glacial deposits and their genesis. Research in these areas led the geologists to realize that not only the Quaternary was characterized by larger glaciations, but that the Earth has undergone glacial periods during the major part of its existence. It has, however, become obvious that some of the answers to the underlying causes and mechanisms behind these climatic changes are most easy to obtain from the geological records of the most recent glacial period, the Quaternary.

When it was realized that these glacial-interglacial cycles were not regional phenomena but of global character, geologists working in areas far outside the actually glaciated regions also became interested in climate studies of the last 2-3 millions of years. In fact, the geologists working within glaciated regions had to work with restricted records, both in space and time. On the other hand they could give detailed accounts of the last glacial and deglacial episodes (and scattered finds of older interglacials, interstadials, glacials, and stadials) as well as of the last late glacial and Holocene (last 10,000 years) history. In fact, the abundance of lake basins in glaciated regions, due to the repeatedly glacially eroded landscape, make these regions most suitable to study the terrestrial environmental and climatic changes since the last deglaciation. This owes to the fact that lake sediments are not only good archives of local/regional environmental history, but usually are also datable and have a good time resolution. Furthermore these glaciated regions have been characterised by a unique property that very early attracted attention by earth scientists: 10,000-15,000 years of more or less rapid and continuous land uplift. However, the increased interest in the period covering the last few millions of years even outside the glaciated regions resulted almost in a scientific revolution. Four types of long and continuous records showed very promising results, but from slightly different palaeoclimatic and palaeoenvironmental aspects: long lake sediment sequences (e.g. Hammen & Gonzalez, 1964), loess deposits (e.g. Kukla, 1970), ice cores (Dansgaard et al. 1971), and marine sediments (Emiliani, 1955). The two latter are generally regarded as the best types of records with respect to global climatic aspects as well as to the possibilities of quantifying these geological records to past temperatures, precipitation and evaporation values,



Figure 2-1 An illustration of polished bedrock near Neuchatel, Switzerland, published by Louis Agassiz in 1840. Agassiz argued that polished and grooved surfaces, occurring many miles from existing glaciers, were clear evidence of a former ice age. From Imbrie and Imbrie (1979) who published it from Carozzi (1967).

> and glacier ice/water budgets. The records from ice cores and marine sediments are well-correlated and closely linked with each other via the global hydrologic cycle. There are, however, abundant marine sediment cores in comparison to the very few ice cores. Therefore we will mainly focus on the relationship between marine records, past climates, and astronomical theories.

2.2 MARINE RECORDS — PAST CLIMATE — ASTRONOMICAL THEORIES

In the middle of this century, with the advent of deep-sea piston coring during the Swedish Deep-Sea Expedition 1947–48, the first steps towards today's large ODP (Ocean Drilling Programme) programme were taken. It was not only the startpoint in confirming the "Continental Drift Theory", but it also resulted in the possibility of obtaining long continuous sediment records from the Quaternary.

By analysing the ratio of the two oxygen isotopes ¹⁶O and ¹⁸O in foraminiferas found in these marine cores Emiliani (1955) could show that this ratio had changed through time (downcore) in a cyclic manner (Figure 2-2). Emiliani argued that these changes were caused by the ambient water tem-





Figure 2-2 Above: core A179-4; percentages of the fraction larger than 74 μm and isotopic temperatures obtained from Globigerinoides rubra (a), Globigerinoides sacculifera (b), Globigerina dubia (c), and Globorotalia menardii (d). From Emiliani (1955). Below: generalized temperature variation, based on the temperature graphs of the cores and on the astronomical time scale. From Emiliani (1955). Reprinted from The Journal of Geology 63, pp. 538-578. Plestocene temperatures, by C. Emiliani, 1955. Publisher The University of Chicago.



Figure 2-3 Oxygen isotope composition of benthonic foraminifera (numbers denote the depth of each sample in cm) from Lamont core A 179-4 plotted against oxygen isotopic composition of the planktonic species Globigerinoides sacculifer (Brady) as determined by Emiliani (1955). If there were no systematic change in temperature with changing isotopic composition, the points should lie on line D. The fact that the points lie closest to line D shows that changing ocean isotopic composition is certainly the primary cause of the isotopic changes observed in planktonic foraminifera. From Shackleton (1967). Reprinted with permission from NATURE 215, pp. 15-17. Copyright 1967 Macmillan Magazines Ltd. Oxygen isotope analyses and Pleistocene temperatures re-assessed, by N J Shackleton 1967.

perature changes reflecting the shifts between glacial and interglacial periods. It was later found (e.g. Olausson, 1965; Shackleton, 1967), and generally accepted that these downcore changes in the oceanic oxygen isotope composition were mainly caused by the growing and shrinking inland ice sheets: the more water that is trapped by glacier ice the higher ¹⁸O values in the oceans (Figure 2-3). This also means that sea level changes are more or less directly linked to ¹⁸O changes (1 m of sea level change corresponds to a c. 0.01 per mil ¹⁸O change according to Fairbanks and Matthews, 1978).



Figure 2-4 Plot of the change in declination for cores V28-238 and V28-239 plotted against depth in core and its correlation with the standard magnetic time scale. The cores are not oriented with respect to true north. From Shackleton and Opdyke (1973). Reprinted with permission from Academic Press. Quaternary Reasearch 3, pp. 39-55. Oxygen isotope and paleomagnetic stratigraphy of equatorial Pacipif core V28-238; oxygen isotope temperatures and ice volumes on a 105 and 106 year scale, by N J Shackleton and N D Opdyke 1973.

It has, however, been found (e.g. Duplessy et al., 1981; Dodge et al. 1983) that certain ¹⁸O curves do not only reflect the global ice volume but are also influenced by other factors such as e.g. the ambient water temperature (cf. Emiliani, 1955), local evaporation-precipitation ratios, vital and ecological effects of individual foraminifera species, differential dissolution, and bioturbation. During the 1980's certain sampling strategies were designed to avoid these problems in order to enhance the ice volume effect (e.g. Imbrie et al. 1984).

When Shackleton and Opdyke (1973) managed to apply palaeomagnetic chronostratigraphy on the ocean cores (Figure 2-4) it meant that the supposed climatic cycles could at least be dated roughly and cores (and isotope curves) could be correlated in spite of large distances between sampling points. This also meant that the global validity, in terms of waning and waxing of the great ice sheets, could be determined. Hence the global nature of the ¹⁸O/¹⁶O curves was confirmed. However, as long as the marine cores are mainly dated with the palaeomagnetic reversals the chronology will be based on rather few dating points with interpolated ages between these. This procedure is obviously a bit uncertain, and so in order to overcome this pro-



Figure 2-5
Oxygen-isotope records and AMS ¹⁴C ages of the two foraminiferal species G. bulloides and N. pachyderma in the core CH73-139C. From Duplessy et al. (1986). Reprinted with permission from NATURE 320, pp. 350-352. Copyright 1986 Macmillan Magazines Ltd. Direct dating of the oxygen-isotope record of the last deglaciation by ¹⁴C accelerator mass spectronometry, by J-C Duplessy, M Arnold, P Maurice, E Bard, J Duprat and J Moyes 1986.

blem the isotope curves have been tuned against different so-called target curves, which will be discussed below. This tuning is of course not necessary for the youngest parts of the curves, where the sediments can be dated by radiocarbon analysis. Bulk samples on sediments poor in organic material are, however, often problematic to date (Björck & Håkansson, 1982) so the use of the rather recently deployed AMS-technique (accelerator mass spectrometry) on pure foraminifera shells (Duplessy et al., 1986; Bard et al., 1987) will certainly create a very detailed chronology (Figure 2-5) from at least the last deglacial phase up to present time.



Figure 2-6 Schematic representation of the earth's orbital elements (eccentricity, tilt, and precession). From Ruddiman and Wright (1987). Reprinted by permission from The Geological Society of America. The material was originally published by GSA. The Geology of North America Vol. K-3, pp. 1-12. Introduction. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright (eds). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation, by W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright 1987.

Already in 1941 the astronomer Milankovitch postulated that the glacialinterglacial cycles were controlled by seasonal, especially summer insolation variations around the latitude of 65° N. These insolation anomalies were caused by cyclic changes in the three Milankovitch orbital parameters (Figure 2-6): eccentricity with cycles of almost 100,000 years (94,000 and 125,000 years) and 413,000 years, the obliquity with a 41,000 year cycle, and the precession with cycles of 19,000 and 23,000 years. The seasonal insolation received at the top of the atmosphere is a function of latitude. At middle and low latitudes the precessional parameters are strongest, while the 41,000 year tilt period is strongest at high latitudes. The eccentricity variations cause only minor shifts in the average annual amount of insolation received (Berger, 1984); however, eccentricity is the primary control on the amplitude of the precessional signal, which in turn controls the seasonal distribution of insolation received (Ruddiman & Wright, 1987). From astronomical calculations we know the form of these orbital changes (Figure 2-7). The calculations of the obliquity variations (Berger, 1984) are accurate to within 5000 years even as far back as 2,500,000 years at the onset of major glaciations (i.e. the beginning of the Quaternary). The ages of the other two parameters' variations are at least as well-known for the last 1,000,000 years, but prior to that the uncertainty is significant.

Hays et al. (1976) were the first to demonstrate detailed evidence of the fact that these orbital cycles dominate the 18 O and other paleoclimatic sig-



Figure 2-7 Variations over the last 3,000,000 years of the three major components of the earth's orbit around the sun; eccentricity, obliquity, and precession. Precession is shown as the precessional index (e sin w), which incorporates the modulating effect of eccentricity. From Ruddiman and Wright (1987). Reprinted by permission from The Geological Society of America. The material was originally published by GSA. The Geology of North America Vol. K-3, pp. 1-12. Introduction. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright (eds). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation, by W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright 1987

nals. Later Imbrie et al. (1984) refined the methodology and analysed the last 700,000 years. So the ultimate explanation for the ice-sheet responses at periods of 100,000, 41,000 and 23,000/19,000 years appears almost certainly to be the insolation variations on earth caused by changes in the earth's orbit.

It is generally accepted that the Pleistocene, or the period with larger glaciations, began rather precisely at 2,500,000 B.P. (Figure 2-8), when the initiation of moderate-sized ice-sheets occurred in the Northern Hemisphere (Backman, 1979; Shackleton et al., 1984). However, already 3 million years



Figure 2-8 Late Pliocene and early Pleistocene % CaCO3 and stable-isotope records at North Atlantic DSDP site 552 (Shackleton et al. 1984). The abrupt decrease of % CaCO3 values at 2,400,000 years B.P. marks initiation of deposition of ice-rafted sand. A correlative late-Pliocene increase in ¹⁸O values is super-imposed on progressive long-term increase after 3,150,000 years B.P. From Ruddiman and Raymo (1988). Reprinted with permission from The Royal Society. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 318, pp 411-430. Northern Hemisphere climate regimes during the past 3 Ma: possible tectonic connections, by W F Ruddiman and M E Raymo 1988.

earlier large ice sheets with a calving ice-shelf already covered large parts of the Antarctic continent (Jansen, 1990). Between 2,500,000 B.P. and 735,000 B.P. all the measured paleoclimatic parameters were dominated by the 41,000 year cycle (Figure 2-9), which strongly suggests that the icesheets fluctuated at the same period (Ruddiman et al. 1986). Sometime between 900,000 and 700,000 B.P. the amplitude of the paleoclimatic parameters increased significantly (cf. Shackleton and Opdyke, 1973) indicating that the ice sheets grew to volumes twice as large as before (Ruddiman and Wright, 1987). The Scandinavian Ice Sheet seems to have reached the Continental Shelf for the first time at c. 1,000,000 B.P. (Jansen, 1990). At the same time the three main paleoclimatic indicators (¹⁸O changes, CaCO₃ variations, and estimated sea-surface temperatures (SST)) begin to show increasing variance at or near the cycles of precession (23,000/19,000 years) and eccentricity (100,000 years). Gradually the 100,000 year rythm has become totally dominant (Figure 2-10) in the global ¹⁸O records (Imbrie et al., 1984) and in the CaCO₃ and SST signals in the North Atlantic. Spectral analysis of the global ¹⁸O record (Imbrie, 1985) does, however, show that also the tilt (41,000 years) and precession cycles (23,000/19,000 years) over the last 800,000 years have influenced the ¹⁸O signal (Figure 2-10).

The dominance of the 41,000 rhythm during the time of less extensive glaciations (the Matuyama chron) is understandable because this orbital parameter is strongest at high latitudes where most of the ice sheets at that time probably occurred. Because summer insolation varies with this rhythm at high latitude it is also natural that this parameter has influenced the timing of ice-sheets during the whole of the Pleistocene since summer ablation of ice and snow is generally regarded as perhaps the most critical parameter for the growth and decay of glaciers and ice-sheets. The importance of the 23,000/19,000 year cycle, with its strong influence at middle and low latitudes, during late-Pleistocene was a natural consequence of the much more extensive and southerly spread ice-sheets during the last c. 1 million years. The great enigma is the dominance of the 100,000 year cycle during late-Pleistocene since changes in the amount of direct insolation available at the eccentricity cycle is almost negligible (Hays et al., 1976; Berger, 1984). One explanation might be that nonlinear responses in the climate system amplify the effects of direct insolation forcing (Hays et al., 1976), e.g. icesheets decay much faster than they grow. Imbrie and Imbrie (1980) for example assumed that ice-sheets have a 17,000 year average time constant of physical response to insolation forcing and that the ice decay is four times faster than the ice growth. These ideas did already exist in glaciological theory (Weertman, 1964). With these assumptions it was found that the summer insolation signal at 65° N produced a good approximation of the global ¹⁸O record. The perhaps most prominent features of the late-Pleistocene ¹⁸O record are the sudden deglaciations that occur approximately every 100,000 years, showing the effect of the nonlinear processes. Generally speaking the major deglaciations coincide with summer insolation maxima in the N hemisphere (Figure 2-11), but it is often hard to explain the abruptness of the deglaciations only in terms of insolation maxima. The last deglaciation is a good example of such a mismatch (Ruddiman and Wright, 1987). This suggests that internal feedback processes (e.g. bedrock rebound, iceberg calving, CO₂, and moisture feedback) are involved in the climate processes (Ruddiman and Wright, 1987).

Oerlemans (1980) and Birchfield et al. (1981) proposed that a suggested delay in bedrock rebound at the onset of deglaciation could explain the accelerated ice-sheet disintegration during the glacial terminations. Peltier and Hyde (1984) and Peltier (1987) refined and modelled these mechanisms. The actual mechanism depends on accentuated isostatic sinking beneath maximum ice-sheet loads. If positive summer insolation anomaly occurs in such a situation the southern ice margin after a while will be situated in the depression that is maintained by the delayed rebound and where ablation is high. This will result in a steep ice gradient which will increase the ice flow and transfer northern ice to the south where it melts rapidly. By this mechanism and when forced by realistic summertime seasonal insolation anomalies (65° N) Peltier's (1987) ice-sheet model produces sawtoothed 100,000 year cycles of the varying ice volume for the last 800,000 years. These cycles are rather similar to the SPECMAP curve (Imbrie et al., 1984) calculated from ¹⁸O records.

Broecker and Denton (1989) even suggests that the glacial cycles were driven by mode changes that are part of a self-sustained internal oscillation that would operate even in the absence of changes in the Earth's orbital parameters. This means that the orbital cycles can merely modulate and pace a self-oscillating climate system (cf. Saltzman et al., 1984). The main point is that the glacial-to-interglacial transitions (terminations) involve major reorganizations of the ocean-atmosphere system (Figure 2-12) and that these terminations constitute jumps between stable modes of operation which cause changes in the greenhouse gas content and albedo of the atmosphere. The main evidence supporting the significance of non-orbital causes of climatic change is the combination of synchronous climate changes of similar severity in both polar hemispheres especially the rapid glacial terminations in both hemispheres. According to Broecker and Denton (1989) the most likely connection between insolation and climate is through impacts of fresh water transport on the ocean's salinity distribution.

2.2.1 The Younger Dryas — an enigma or future analogue?

The importance of the 100,000 year cycle is not the only enigma and challenge for the paleoclimatologists and climate modellers. Another problem is the Younger Dryas event (or stadial), which has been known for a long time in NW European terrestrial records (Hartz and Milthers, 1901; Nilsson, 1935; Jessen, 1935; Iversen, 1942). It comprises a 500 to 1000 year long period (11,000–10,000 B.P.) characterized by a very sudden transition

Figure 2-9 (right) Above: early Pleistocene climatic trends at North Atlantic DSDP sites 607 (Ruddiman et al. 1986). SSTw=winter sea-surface temperature. Magnetic timescale based on linear interpolation between magnetic datums; obliquity timescale derived by tuning records to obliquity. Large dots are values spliced into main sequence from offset holes. From Ruddiman and Raymo (1988). Reprinted with permission from The Royal Society. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 318, pp 411-430. Northern Hemisphere climate regimes during the past 3 Ma: possible tectonic connections, by W F Ruddiman and M E Raymo 1988. Below: spectral analysis of the early Pleistocene records shown above. Spectra from both magnetic (broken lines) and obliquity timescales (solid lines) show prevalent 41,000 year periodicity during the late Matuyama. (a) Site 607, SSTw; (b) site 607, ¹⁸O; (c) site 607, % CaCO₃; (d) site 609, % CaCO₃; age range for all sites, 735,000-1.640,000 years B.P. From Ruddiman and Raymo (1988). Reprinted with permission from The Royal Society. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 318, pp 411-430. Northern Hemisphere climate regimes during the past 3 Ma: possible tectonic connections, by W F Ruddiman and M E Raymo 1988.





Figure 2-10 (a) Composite global ¹⁸O record from Imbrie et al. (1984). Units are standard deviations from the mean. (b) Spectral analysis of ¹⁸O record (after Imbrie 1985) in (a). From Ruddiman and Wright (1987). Reprinted by permission from The Geological Society of America. The material was originally published by GSA. The Geology of North America Vol. K-3, pp. 1-12. Introduction. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright (eds). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation, by W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright 1987

Figure 2-11 (right) Above: changes in ¹⁸O over the last 400,000 years (after Imbrie et al. 1984), and changes in June insolation at 60° N over the last 400,000 years. From Ruddiman and Wright (1987). Below: changes in tilt, precession (precessional index), and summer half-year (calendar) insolation at 60° N over the last 25,000 years. From Ruddiman and Wright (1987). Reprinted by permission from The Geological Society of America. The material was originally published by GSA. The Geology of North America Vol. K-3, pp. 1-12. Introduction. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright (eds). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation, by W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright 1987





Figure 2-12 A large scale salt transport system operating intoday's ocean compensates for the transport of water (as vapor) through the atmosphere from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean. Salt-laden deep water formed in the northern Atlantic flows down the length of the Atlantic around Africa through the southern Indian Ocean and finally northward in the deep Pacific Ocean. Some of this water upwells in the northern Pacific, bringing with it the salt left behind in the Atlantic due to vapor transport. Records from ocean sediments tell us, however, that the so-called Atlantic conveyor was disrupted during glacial time and was replaced by an alternate mode of operation. From Broecker and Denton (1989). Reprinted with premission from Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, Vol. 53, Broecker/Denton, The role of Ocean-Atmosphere reorganizations in Glacial Cycles, 1988, Pergamon Press PLC.

(Björck et al., 1987; Dansgaard et al., 1989) into more or less full glacial conditions during 500-800 years followed by the postglacial warming. During the last decades this event has frequently also been found in marine records from the North Atlantic (especially in the northeastern sector) illustrating how the deglacial polar front advanced far south (Figure 2-13) during the Younger Dryas (Ruddiman and McIntyre, 1981). Over the years scientists have claimed its existence in many other parts of the world (Asia, Australia, South America), but most of these finds have been criticised and reevaluated. During the last decade, however, many studies indicate that at least the east coast (especially Nova Scotia) of North America (Mott et al., 1986; Stea and Mott, 1989) was influenced by the Younger Dryas event and possibly also areas much further to the west on the North American continent (Björck, 1985; Shane, 1987). Still unpublished studies from e.g. Glacier Bay in Alaska indicate that it might also be found in that part of North America (H. E. Wright Jr., pers. comm.). The difficulty in understanding



Figure 2-13 Summary of the polar front positions and changes during the last deglaciation. From Ruddiman and McIntyre (1981). Reprinted with permission from Academic Press. Quaternary Reasearch 16, pp. 125-134. The Mode and Mechanism of the Last Deglaciation: Oceanic Evidence, by W F Ruddiman and A McIntyre 1981.

(and modelling) the Younger Dryas event is that it took place during the culmination of the "termination" and at a time when the summer insolation reached a maximum at middle and high latitudes of the Northern Hemisphere. Many different explanations have been presented for this event. The latest but certainly not last contributions on this controversial topic were recently presented by Fairbanks (1989) and Jansen and Veum (1990) from two completely different parts of the North Atlantic region. They strongly support the "French two-step" deglaciation model, based on 16 cores from coral reefs on the coast of Barbados and isotope records from benthic and planktonic foraminifera in the northeastern Atlantic, respectively. Fairbank's (1989) study shows two very distinct melt-water pulses (12,000 B.P. and 9500 B.P., respectively) that are separated by very low melt-water discharges between 11,000 and 10,500 B.P. (Figure 2-14). Furthermore, sea level rise was slow 11,000-10,000 B.P., preceded and followed by rapidly rising sea levels. So in contrast to what Broecker et al. (1985) and Broecker and Denton (1989) postulate, the Younger Dryas seems to have been characterized by low melt-water fluxes. The main argument behind Broecker's



Figure 2-14 The rate of glacial melt-water discharge calculatedfrom the Barbados sea level curve compared to summer insolation. The discharge curve (thick line) is plotted according to radiocarbon years uncorrected for secular changes in atmospheric ¹⁴C. Converting radiocarbon years B.P. to calendar years B.P. using the calibration in Stuiver et al. (1986) shifts the ages of mwp-IB mwp-IA as shown by the thin line. Preliminary ²³⁰Th/²³⁴U dates indicate that this correction is too small for mwp-IA (Bard, Hamelin and Fairbanks in prep.). By comparison, the insolation at 60° N (dashed line) and 70° S latitude (dotted line) are plotted against absolute time (Berger 1978). From Fairbanks (1989).Reprinted with permission from NATURE 342, pp. 637-642. Copyright 1989 Macmillan Magazines Ltd. A 17,000-year glacio-eustatic sea level record: influence of glacial melting rates on the Younger Dryas event and deep-ocean circulation, by R G Fairbanks 1989.

(and colleagues') model (that huge melt-water influx to the North Atlantic during the Younger Dryas upset the density stratification by lowering the surface salinity, which prevented formation of North Atlantic deep water) is thus contradicted by the very important studies of Fairbanks (1989) and Jansen and Veum (1990). The Younger Dryas is thus still a large, enigmatic anomaly during the last deglaciation.

It is thus quite clear from numerous studies that the Younger Dryas was characterized by an arctic climate in the ice-free areas of NW Europe. One of the many questions regarding future glacial stages has concerned the relationship between the extent of these stages and the formation of permafrost. In this context it is therefore worthwhile mentioning that at least the western part of South Sweden was characterized by permafrost conditions from areas just south of the ice-margin (e.g. Johnsson, 1986) down to at least the Laholm Plain in southern Halland (Svensson, 1974, 1982) during the Younger Dryas. Whereas other permafrost indicators found elsewhere in South Sweden might either have been formed during previous stadial conditions or during the Younger Dryas. In any case this tells us that the climatic conditions during the very temporary Younger Dryas were severe enough to produce permafrost in large areas outside the actual ice-margin. We do, however, not know to what depths the permafrost reached during this quite restricted time period. Two questions arise from the above: Is it possible to compare (from a climatic viewpoint) the future glaciations with the Younger Dryas? and, At which future glaciation(s), and at which stage(s) of it (them), can we expect permafrost conditions?

The existence of the Younger Dryas certainly also raises some generally important and thought-provoking questions. Can the regional/global climate change from an interglacial to a glacial state in a matter of decades? How finely balanced is the global climate and what can upset this balance?

2.3 CONCLUSIONS

In spite of different opinions regarding the relative importance of the many different climatic processes that may be involved in triggering the glacial and interglacial cycles there exist certain, very important, agreements concerning these cycles: A) During the last c. 2.5 million years the Earth's climate system has been characterised by continuous interglacial-glacial cycles. B) The interglacial-glacial cycles have, during the last 700,000–900,000 years, been dominated by the 100,000 year rhythm, but the 41,000 and 23,000/19,000 year rhythms do also appear. This is undoubtedly good evidence for the importance of the Milankovitch orbital parameters. C) The interglacial cycles are characterized by a rather gradual transition from interglacial to glacial conditions. The "pure" interglacial part of the cycle seems to be short (10,000–20,000 years). The glacial part is long and culminates in an extensive glaciation followed by a very rapid termination.

D) The link between insolation anomalies, oceans, atmosphere, and icesheets. This is particularly well evidenced by the good correlation between the orbital cycles, the marine records, and the ice core records.

CLIMATE MODELS

Today many scientists are developing techniques to create general-circulation models (GCMs) that, at least partly, can explain the relationships between different climate parameters and how they have influenced the past global climate (e.g. COHMAP, 1988). A global array of well-dated palaeoclimatic data is assembled and then the model tries to identify and evaluate causes and mechanisms of climate change. The model is usually run for well-defined time-slices. Comparisons of palaeoclimatic data with the model simulations are essential for the testing and calibration of the GCMs. Hence our confidence in GCM results is dependent on the quality of the palaeoclimatic data, which is far better for the most recent times (i.e. the Holocene) than for older times. which means that the possibility of testing these GCMs. So the GCMs have become particularly useful in explaining the climate changes of the last c. 20,000 years. To a certain degree they have also been used to predict possible climatic changes in the near future. They can, however, still not be used to simulate the long glacial-interglacial cycles. Below we will thus concentrate on models (not GCMs) that mainly relate to the orbital parameters and the waning and waxing of the great ice-sheets (the changing amount of water that was tied to the continental ice-sheets). The latter can be calculated from the globally significant ¹⁸O curves.

If we accept that the Milankovitch orbital parameters are the driving mechanisms behind the Pleistocene climatic changes this would obviously imply a challenge for climate modellers to try to predict future climates, since the future behaviour of these orbital parameters is possible to calculate. We do know the past relationship between orbital changes and the changes in global ice volume (¹⁸O curves). This is useful in two ways: it makes it possible to understand and analyse the links between changing solar radiation and changing ice volumes and the model outputs can be tested against the ¹⁸O curves that are assumed to be the best measures for the global ice volume changes.

The first models were so-called equilibrum models of the form y=f(x). Some of these models (e.g. Shaw and Donn, 1968; Budyko, 1969; Berger, 1977; Schneider and Thompson, 1979; Suarez and Held 1976) showed some promising results. Successes, however, were mixed with failures that are typical of equilibrum models. Equilibrum models presume an instantaneous response of climate to a change in boundary conditions, whereas in reality the true climate system, and the geologic record of it, can lag significantly behind such a change in boundary conditions.

A differential model of the form dy/dt=f(x,y) is required in order to understand the time-dependent behavior (including the observed lags between orbital forcing and the climate response) of the system (Imbrie and Imbrie, 1980). The need for a differential model has been recognized since the time

of Milankovitch (1941). A simple differential model over the past 800,000 years was set up by Calder (1974) in which he achieved good results for the last 150,000 years. In 1976 Weertman made a pioneering study in modelling the fluctuations of a continental ice-sheet as a function of changing solar radiation. He not only got significant responses at the forcing cycles (41,000 and 23,000/19,000 years), but also in the range 100,000 to 400,000 years. Pollard (1978) coupled Weertman's ice-sheet model to an energy-balance model of the atmosphere, which became a considerable advance in modeling capacity. This model gave a reasonably accurate simulation of the climate record of the last 150,000 years. Although the above cited models represented considerable progress in applying all available knowledge of climate physics to create the most realistic model on the behaviour of the great icesheets their results fell short of an adequate simulation. In order to overcome this problem Imbrie and Imbrie (1980) followed an alternative strategy by trying to capture the important features of more complex models in a class of simple models. This makes it possible to disclose the full information power of a given class of models by adjusting the model parameters until an optimum model is identified. The big advantage of developing simple models is that it can be tested and developed over and over again and that it is easier to understand what features are responsible for failures and what are the basis of its success. Six radiometrically dated events were used in tuning the model and the model ages came out very well. The model did also respond to the five main orbital (and ¹⁸O) cycles (Figure 3-1), but as usual the 100,000 cycle was less prominent than in the orbital data and ¹⁸O records. As will be shown in the next section Imbrie and Imbrie's (1980) model output simulates the ¹⁸O curves over the last 350,000 years in a rather impressive way. It should, however, be pointed out that there are still no models (stochastic) that can provide a good basis for estimating the degree of unpredictability in climate. A significant event like the Younger Dryas, which obviously occurred and dramtically influenced large parts of the North Atlantic region, is hardly understandable and has been very difficult to model. Attempts have been made (e.g. Rind et al., 1986) but the output models have often failed to simulate the climate indicated by the geologic records. As such it is an important and instructive experience for climate modellers and palaeoclimatologists.

3.1 A MODEL OF FUTURE CLIMATE

The model output from Imbrie and Imbrie's (1980) response model is shown in Figures 3-1 and 3-2. The agreement between the output, the orbital input (with the time-lag), and the two assumed globally valid ¹⁸O curves (from the southern Indian Ocean and from the Pacific Ocean, respectively) is striking. According to the output curve the present day interglacial conditions are gradually changing to glacial conditions. This transition began c. 6000 B.P. and will culminate in 23,000 years in what could be called a stadial. The model output values of that stadial indicates that the amount of ice tied to continental ice-sheets will be similar to the situation we know from isotope stage 4, when parts of Scandinavia (e.g. Mangerud, 1981; Lundqvist, 1986) and North America most likely were glaciated. In marine sediments from Denmark (Jutland) Lykke-Andersen (1987) shows that her zone V, which is correlated to isotope stage 4, marks the first high arctic period (based on foraminifera) during the Weichselian in the Jutland-Kattegatt area. There are no certain evidence how extensive this glaciation was. It might have reached down to the Göteborg area (Hillefors, 1969) but not further westwards or southwestwards (Lykke-Andersen, 1987). According to some Polish TL-dates it might have filled the Baltic basin down to the Polish coast in the form of a Baltic ice lobe (Lagerlund, 1987). According to Berglund and Lagerlund (1981) there are no traces of glaciation in Skåne before the Late Weichselian. This glaciation was thus much more restricted than the Late Weichslian one. Although the actual extent of it is unknown the ¹⁸O curves suggest that almost full-glacial conditions prevailed and that this period was the second coldest (at least in the amount of ice that was tied up in glaciers) during the Weichselian. So according to Imbrie and Imbrie's (1980) model parts of Sweden will start to become glaciated at least within 20,000 years with a culmination at c. 23,000 years from now.

The above outlined stadial conditions will, according to the model, be followed by an interstadial climate, similar to the Middle Weichselian climate that preceded the Late Weichselian glaciation maximum. In most parts of Sweden, with a possible exception for the Swedish mountain areas, the icesheet will have disintegrated at c. 30,000 years from now. That situation will probably prevail for c. 20,000 years. If this interstadial can be comparable with Lagerbäck's (1988) Tärendö Interstadial, which he tentatively correlates with isotope stage 5a, but in our opinion also may be correlated

Figure 3-1 (right) Spectral density as a function of frequency f (cycles per 100 years). Climatic spectra are compared with input spectra of two climate-response models. (A) Solid peaks are the spectrum the input to our optimum model. Open peaks are the spectrum variations in eccentricity calculated from data of Berger (1978). The dominant periods of these orbital variations, calculated by Berger (1977), are indicated in thousands of years and by dotted vertical lines. (B) Spectrum of the output of our optimum model. Note the low-frequency peaks not found in the model input. (C) Solid line shows spectrum of variations in ¹⁸O from a 468,000-year record in the southern Indian Ocean. Dashed line shows spectrum of same data after prewhitening with a first-difference filter to emphasize details in the higher frequencies. Data are from Hays et al. (1976), with the spectrum calculated on their TUNE-UP time scale. (D) Solid line shows spectrum of variations in ¹⁸O from a 730,000-year core record in the Pacific Ocean. Dashed line shows spectrum of the same data after prewhitening with a first-difference filter to emphasize details in the higher frequencies. Isotopic data are from Shackleton and Opdyke (1973). (E) Spectrum of the output of a response model due to Calder (1974). From Imbrie and Imbrie (1980). Reprinted with permission from American Association for the Advancement of Science, SCIENCE 207, pp. 943-953. Modelling the climatic response to orbital variations, by J Imbrie and J Z Imbrie 1980. Copyright 1980 by the AAAS.





Figure 3-2 Input and output of Imbrie and Imbries (1980) response model compared with isotopic data on climate of the past 250,000 years. (A) Orbital input corresponding to an irradiation curve for July at 65° N. (B) Output of a system function with a mean time constant of 17,000 years and a ratio of 4:1 between the time constants of glacial growth and melting. Ages of selected maxima and minima are given in thousands of years. According to this model, the influence of orbital variations over the next 23,000 years will be to enlarge continental ice-sheets. (C) Oxygen isotope curve for deep-sea core RC11-120 from the southern Indian Ocean (Hays et al. 1976). (D) Oxygen isotope curve for deep-sea core V28-238 (Shackleton and Opdyke 1973) from the Pacific Ocean. Curves C and D are plotted against the TUNE-UP time scale of Hays et al. (1976).

From Imbrie and Imbrie (1980). Reprinted with permission from American Association for the Advancement of Science, SCIENCE 207, pp. 943-953. Modelling the climatic response to orbital variations, by J Imbrie and J Z Imbrie 1980. Copyright 1980 by the AAAS.

with e.g. stage 3, it means that at least the end of it might be characterized by an extremely harsh climate in Norrland, comparable to Greenland or Antarctic conditions, with extensive periglacial activity.

At c. 50,000 years from now the main glaciation of the coming glacial will start to build up. According to Imbrie and Imbrie (1980) the maximum

glaciation will be reached at c. 63,000 years from now. According to the model output the glaciation will be as extensive as the Weichselian glaciation maximum at 18,000–20,000 B.P., i.e. isotope stage 2, which would mean that the whole of Scandinavia, Finland, the Baltic republics, western Russia, large parts of Poland and the German republics become glaciated. The effect on the Swedish bedrock would in that case be similar to what happened during the Late Weichselian.

The termination of the assumed future glaciation maximum seems to become as rapid as it was at the end of the last glaciation maximum between 15,000 and 10,000 B.P. If this will be the case the uplift features of the Swedish bedrock will probably also be rather similar to what we know about the Late Weichselian-Holocene uplift history. What we, however, know much less of, actually almost nothing, are the Early and Middle Weichselian isostatic changes, i.e. how the bedrock behaved during the upbuilding of a continental ice-sheet.

According to Imbrie and Imbrie's (1980) model the next interglacial optimum will be reached at c. 75,000 years from now with a gradual change into more or less full-glacial conditions (cf. isotope stage 4) at c. 100,000 years from now.

If we accept that the above outlined scenario is likely to occur it implies that large parts of Sweden will be glaciated three times in the coming 100,000 years. This also implies that the Swedish bedrock will experience three major down-warping phases and two uplift phases during that time period.

4

PLEISTOCENE – HOLOCENE SEA LEVEL CHANGES

One of the main features of the Pleistocene are the repeated glacial/interglacial cycles. A main effect of these cycles has been significant global sea level oscillations. These oscillations are best demonstrated by the marine ¹⁸O records, whose signals are dominated by the amount of water tied up in glaciers and continental ice-sheets. Other good indications of the past sea level history are e.g. coral reefs, coastal wet land stratigraphies in tropical regions, older shorelines, and isolations and transgressions of lake basins. According to the ¹⁸O curves and estimations of maximum ice volumes the sea level changes have been estimated to the order of 80-150 m between the interglacials and the main glacial phases. For many years attempts were made to construct a globally uniform sea level curve (=eustatic curve) for the last 18-20,000 years (=since the last glacial maximum). This has, however, shown to be impossible since the eustatic changes are composed of different non-globally uniform components (except for changes in the volume of the hydrosphere). The importance of geoidal changes for understanding past sea level changes led Mörner (1976a) to define eustasy as vertical sea level changes regardless of causation. Three main types of eustasy can be distinguished: A) Glacial-eustasy, which is controlled by ocean water volume changes that are caused by the waning and waxing of glaciers and continental ice-sheets. B) Geoidal eustasy, which is controlled by changes (in time and space) in the Earth's gravitational field. C) Tectono-eustasy, which is controlled by changes in the ocean basin volume. The most important factors are sedimentation and volume variations of ocean ridge systems.

The sea level history of an area is mainly a function of the eustatic, glacio-isostatic, hydro-isostatic, and tectonic changes it has undergone. The eustatic components have been described above. Glacio-isostasy has influenced glaciated regions, as well as their peripheral areas, to a greater or lesser extent depending on the temporal and areal extent and the thickness of the regional/local ice-sheets/glaciers. The hydro-isostatic changes are caused by sea level changes that deflect the ocean floor to attain isostatic equilibrum. E.g. a eustatic sea level rise of 3 m would depress the ocean floor by 1 m (1/3 of the sea level change), which in turn would result in a mean uplift of the continents by c. 2 m (the oceanic area is approximately twice the continental area). It is evident that sea level changes, wherever they occur, are a complex of many interrelated and complicated factors, which are often also difficult to quantify.

The latest contribution to our knowledge about sea level changes since the last glacial maximum is a sea level curve based on drillings in Acropora palmata coral reefs on the south coast of Barbados (Fairbanks, 1989) covering the last 18,000 radiocarbon years. The advantage by this study is that a) this coral species is restricted to the upper five metres of water, b) the tec-



Figure 4-1 Barbados sea level curve based on radiocarbon-dated A. palmata (filled circles) compared with A. palmata age-depth data (open circles) for four other Caribbean island locations. All radiocarbon ages in this figure are corrected for local seawater ¹⁴C by substracting 400 yr from the measured radiocarbon ages but they are not corrected for secular changes in atmospheric ¹⁴C levels (Stuiver et al. 1986). The Barbados data are corrected for the estimated mean uplift of 34 cm/1000 yr. The right-hand axis of the Barbados sea level curve is scaled to the estimated ¹⁸O change of mean ocean water using the calibration in Fairbanks and Matthews (1978). From Fairbanks (1989). Reprinted with permission from NATURE 342, pp. 637-642. Copyright 1989 Macmillan Magazines Ltd. A 17,000-year glacio-eustatic sea level record: influence of glacial melting rates on the Younger Dryas event and deep-ocean circulation, by R G Fairbanks 1989.

tonic uplift rate is calculated to be very small (c. 34 cm/1000 yr), c) the offshore morphology is gently sloping and extremely well-mapped with three parallel offshore ridges containing thick sequences of *A. palmata*, and d) Barbados is situated in an area where sea level was hardly influenced by changes in the equipotential surface that were due to the changing gravitational attraction of the melting Laurentide Ice Sheet. According to the curve obtained (Figure 4-1) sea level was situated at c. -120 m at 18,000 B.P. The hydro-isostatic effect is, however, not estimated and an island moving with the sea floor will record the full sea level change (Fjeldskaar, 1989) and not the net change. If Barbados has sunk in pace with the sinking sea floor, which is not likely, the net sea level rise will be in the order of 80-90 m, which is also what e.g. Mörner (1976b) has calculated from NW Europe.

Ever since the last glacial maximum sea level has been rising, but with slightly different rates (Figure 4-1). The most significant rates occurred 13,000–11,500 B.P. and 10,000–9000 B.P. as a probable result of high melt-water fluxes from the Fennoscandian and North American ice-sheets. As a result of this unloading (incl. the hydro-isostatic component) of former glaciated regions, these regions have experienced a more or less extensive uplift during late-, and postglacial time. As such Fennoscandia is not only a suitable "sea level laboratory" (Mörner, 1980a), but also a region where the geodynamic features and processes of the mantle can be studied and understood. The research history on the Fennoscandian relative sea level and uplift history has been treated exhaustively by Mörner (1979) and will thus only be shortly dealt with here.

LATE WEICHSELIAN-HOLOCENE UPLIFT IN SWEDEN

29

5.1 SHORT HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TO STUDIES ON LAND-UPLIFT

The study of land-uplift in Sweden has a long history, beginning in the late 17th century when Urban Hiärne (Hiärne 1706) began a survey of the withdrawal of the sea. During the 18th and 19th centuries many Swedish scientists studied the land-uplift, such as Emanuel Swedenborg, Anders Celsius, Carl von Linné, P Kalm, Efraim O Runeberg, Sven Nilsson, Axel Erdmann, Gerhard De Geer, Henrik Munthe, Leonard Holmström, Nils Olof Holst and many others. The work during these two centuries led to the understanding that the observed uplift had an isostatic origin caused by the glacial deloading at the end of the last glaciation (De Geer 1888). The results obtained during late 19th and early 20th centuries concerning the elevation of major shoreline stages of different ages (e.g. the highest shoreline, the Ancylus shoreline and the postglacial transgression shoreline (Litorina and Tapes), (De Geer 1910, Munthe 1902, 1910ab, Lundqvist 1928), as well as the "processes" behind the complicated Baltic development are generally still valid.

During the 20th century two other important properties of the land uplift were established:

- The principles of the eustatic interaction on the uplift were described by Nansen (1922) and Ramsay (1924);
- The finding that the geoid of the earth is not constant through time (Mörner 1977, 1979, Fjeldskaar & Kanestrøm 1980, Fjeldskaar 1989) has invalidated the use of global sea level rise curves.

The last century has been a period of intense collection of shore level data, from both morphologically identified shorelines and stratigraphic sequences. Especially, over the three last decades the use of ¹⁴C dating has yielded detailed knowledge about the shore displacement from many areas in Sweden.

5.2 SEA-LEVEL MEASUREMENTS AS SOURCES OF INFORMATION ON LAND UPLIFT

Registrations of land uplift by measuring sea-level relative to watermarks chiseled into bedrock is a method practised since the early 18th century, and the use of tide gauges and mareographs had begun already in 1774 in Stockholm (Sjöberg 1984, Ekman & Sjöberg 1984, Ekman 1986).



Figure 5-1 Observed land uplift in the Fennoscandian area; in mm/yr. Based on data from Ekman (1987).

5.3 PRECISION LEVELLINGS

Repeated high-precision levellings, related to mareograph registrations of sea-level, give rather exact values for the apparent uplift for the period between the levellings. Such a study, based on the Swedish high-precision levellings from 1886–1903 and 1951–1967, has been presented by Ussisoo (1977), and compilations of data from the whole Fennoscandian uplift area have been done by e.g. Ekman (1987). Around 1997 the third high-precision levelling should be finished resulting in a much more detailed picture of the present land uplift.

This method only gives results on the land-uplift relative to sea-level. Estimates of the rate of change in sea-level show rather large variations. A
value of c. +1mm/yr (Lisitzin 1974) is often used, which, however, may be too high (Pirazzoli 1989). Ekman (1986) calculated variations in apparent land-uplift based on observations since 1774. He found that the uplift rate relative to sea-level was 1 mm/yr higher between 1774 and 1884 than it was from 1884 to 1984. He explained this as a higher eustatic rise during the latter period as a result of climatic amelioration since the "Little Ice Age".

5.4 SHORELINE STUDIES

Studies of ancient shorelines of the sea (and lakes) is the most common method to document the land uplift for the period following the deglaciation until recent time. Former shorelines can be identified either as a morphological feature, such as a beach ridge, or from stratigraphical evidence (e.g. from the sediment sequence formed during the isolation of a lake from the sea, or in some cases inundation by a rising sea). The shorelines are usually dated by the radiocarbon method, either by dating organic deposits (shells, peat or wood) within or below beach deposits, or by dating organic lake sediments deposited in connection with the isolation of the lake.

By dating the isolation of several lakes at different elevation situated within a small area, very accurate knowledge of the shore displacement through time can be obtained. By mapping the elevation of dated shorelines in larger areas it is possible to display the spatial pattern of uplift, which can be especially detailed if distinct morphological shorelines can be used.

One problem is that the datings (except in a few cases when annual laminations have been used for dating) are performed by the ¹⁴C method. The ages are not true years, but depend instead on the ¹⁴C production in the atmosphere, and show a deviation of up to c. 900 yrs from the sidereal timescale. For the period when the deviation is known (0- c. 8000 yrs ago) correction is possible, but for the time before, the deviation is largely unknown.

5.4.1 Morphologically identified shorelines

The study of morphological shorelines, mainly beach ridges, delta surfaces, boulder fields, boulder rims, and eroded beach notches, has a long tradition. The major shorelines were identified, both on their morphology and stratigraphy, (e.g. finds of shell, and biostratigraphic studies on peat and gyttja beneath transgressive shorelines) and were geographically mapped already by the late 19th and early 20th centuries (e.g. De Geer 1888, Munthe 1902, 1910ab). During the period c. 1920-1950 intense studies of shorelines took place by measuring and correlating not only major but also minor shorelines. Unfortunately many correlations from this period were based on neither stratigraphical evidence nor continuously mapped shorelines, but seemingly only by correlations in shoreline diagrams constructed in various ways. These graphical correlations, often performed throughout very large areas (e.g. Nilsson 1953, 1968) are today regarded to be of little value in regional studies of the land uplift. However, in intensely studied, limited geographic areas these older studies could be of great value, especially when applying ages derived from modern shore displacement studies.

The general opinion today regarding morphologically identified shorelines is rather restrictive. Shorelines correlated regionally need to be morphologically pronounced, either by size or shape or by being the first or last in a sequence. Shorelines of the pronounced type are formed during the culmination of transgressions, or during rather long periods of stable (or nearly stable) sea-level. Such shorelines were formed;

- 1. By the transgressive Ancylus Lake in the Baltic,
- 2. During the (metachronous) culmination of the Postglacial transgressions (the Litorina transgression(s) in the Baltic).

The shorelines distinguished by their appearance in a sequence are:

- 3. The highest shoreline, which is the uppermost shoreline of the sea or the dammed Baltic.
- 4. The last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline, formed in the Baltic just before the final drainage.
- 5. The first Yoldia shoreline, formed in the Baltic just after the drainage of the Baltic down to sea-level.

Further, to be certain of the age of a shoreline, datings are needed, preferably both from the central and marginal areas of a shoreline's occurrence. These could be obtained by ¹⁴C dating and biostratigraphically investigated organic material, either within or below a transgressive beach deposit, or in lake-sediment stratigraphy directly related to the shore displacement.

In the following section these five distinct shorelines will be further discussed and their appearance and elevation are summarized.

5.4.1.2 The highest shoreline

The highest shorelines were formed by the sea or the dammed Baltic, normally at the time of deglaciation, but at places possibly during a later transgression. This shoreline is thus metachronously formed in different parts of Sweden. Its age is c. 13,000 B.P. in southern Sweden and c. 8000– 8500 B.P. in northern Sweden.

The advantage of this shoreline is that it is rather easy to observe, and is thus generally the most frequently studied shoreline. The feature identified as the highest shoreline is important when regional syntheses are made, e.g. whether the feature is the highest limit of wave-wash, a boulder rim, or an erosion terrace could produce significant differences in elevation. In many locations there also exist higher shorelines, formed in local dammed glacial lakes, which should not be mistaken as having been formed by the sea or the dammed Baltict. Due to its metachronous character, the gradient of the highest coastline displays the combined effect of the water-level changes of the sea or the Baltic, and the isostatic land uplift. It could also be emphasized that due to its metachronous character it is **not** formed as a single shoreline, but rather as the upper end of a sequence of shorelines where each one has a greater gradient than the actual highest shoreline (Ramsay 1924) (Figure 5-2).

As discussed later, the highest shoreline gives possibilities for identifying areas with differential uplift (e.g. tectonic zones) which has been active after deglaciation. The reason is firstly that the shoreline is old, commonly formed at deglaciation, which means that all later tectonic events

Figure 5-2 Illustration on how the highest shoreline is formed during deglaciation as a sequence of metachronous shorelines normally with a gradient less than the highest shoreline. From Ramsay (1924).

should show up, and secondly that this shoreline can usually be determined for many sites in an area. However, using this shoreline for such a purpose should be done with care, considering the effect of regional sea-level changes, as well as more local glacio-eustatic influence.

Regional synthesis: Based on a compilation of published data, isolines of the highest shoreline were constructed (Fig. 5-3). By combining these shorelinedata with a digital elevation model (with 500 m spacing between datapoints compiled by the National Land Survey of Sweden) land areas above the highest shoreline could be illustrated as a map (Fig. 5-3).

From the Swedish west coast information on the highest shoreline is given in the geological maps and their descriptions (from Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning, SGU ser. Aa och Ae). Some recent studies includes Gillberg (1952), Wedel (1967, 1971), Hillefors (1969), Mörner (1969), Digerfeldt (1979), Lind (1983), Sandgren (1983), Robison (1983). Recently new results from Skåne and southern Halland (Lagerlund 1983, 1987, Adrielsson 1984, Malmberg-Persson 1988) indicate that the deglaciation sealevel was low and later followed by a transgression, reaching higher levels (in Skåne even much higher) than assumed in previously published studies on the highest shoreline. However, the question of deglaciation and highest shoreline in this region is debated and Ringberg (1989) presents results favouring the more traditional view of the Late Weichselian glacial stages, and thus a lower elevation of the highest shoreline in Skåne.

The elevation of the highest shoreline decreases southwards from c. 215 m a.s.l. at Höljes far north in the Klarälven river valley (Gillberg 1952), c. 160 ma.s.l. at Dals Ed (Gillberg (1952), 134 ma.s.l. at Hunneberg (Digerfeldt 1979), to c. 90 ma.s.l. at Sandsjöbacka 15 km south of Göteborg (Påsse 1987). Further south, in the debated area, the highest shoreline is found at either c. 45 m a.s.l. south of Lund according to Ringberg (1989), or somewhat above 75 m a.s.l. in central Skåne according to Malmberg-Persson (1988).

In the southern part of the Swedish east coast from Scania up to the Middle Swedish end-moraine zone the highest shoreline was formed by the Baltic Ice Lake which at most times was dammed above sea-level. A summary of published as well as new information from this area were done by Agrell (1976).

The ice-marginal position at the Baltic Ice Lake drainage in the northern part of the Middle Swedish end-moraine zone shows a drop of the highest shoreline of c. 25 m (Bergsten 1943, Björck & Digerfeldt 1989) due to the final drainage of the Baltic Ice Lake. During the following c. 600-800 years (Svensson 1989, 1991a) the Baltic was in level with the sea. During the next c. 500 yr followed the dammed Ancylus stage, but afterwards again the highest shoreline was formed at the true sea-level.

The elevation of the highest shoreline continues to increases towards the north on the east coast and is c. 160 m at Kilsbergen in Närke (Halden 1934), and c. 200 m a.s.l. 40 km east of Gävle. Close to Örnsköldsvik in Ångermanland the highest value of the highest shoreline, c. 285 m a.s.l. is recorded. Further to the north as well to the west the highest shoreline is found at successively lower elevations, e.g. c. 170 m a.s.l. at Pajala, northern Norrbotten (G. Lundqvist 1961).

Information on the highest shoreline on the Swedish eastcoast is given in the descriptions to the geological maps (SGU ser. Ae, Ca) and for example in Asklund (1935), Halden (1934), G.Lundqvist (1961), and Hörnsten (1964), Agrell (1976), Ringberg (1971), Cato & Lidén (1973), Rudmark (1975).

5.4.1.2 The last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline, 10.300 BP

This shoreline was formed by the dammed Baltic Ice Lake during late Younger Dryas, around 10,300 (Björck 1979, 1981, Svensson 1989, 1991a), just before the final drainage (Fig. 5-4). This drainage took place when the ice margin retreated north of Mt. Billingen in south central Sweden, when the low-lying area north of Billingen was deglaciated. The drainage took place during the later part of Younger Dryas when the ice margin still was within the Middle Swedish end-moraine zone.

The final drainage of the Baltic Ice Lake has engaged many researchers. This drainage of the Baltic Ice Lake down to sea-level was first proposed by Munthe (1902) in the description to the geological map sheet Kalmar. Published work dealing with this drainage includes Munthe (1910b), Lundqvist (1921, 1931), S. Johansson (1926), Bergsten (1943), Berglund (1966), Strömberg (1974, 1977, 1984, and 1986), Björck (1979, 1981), Donner (1982), Björck & Digerfeldt (1984, 1986, and 1989), and Svensson (1989, 1991a).

Figure 5-3 The highest shoreline in Sweden. The map is based on shoreline data from the 'Swedish shoreline database' and a digital elevation model from the National Land Survey of Sweden (LMV) with 500 m data spacing. The inserted map shows isolines of highest shoreline observations, irregularities in southeastern Sweden are mainly an effect of highest shoreline formation during a dammed Baltic stage. In the province of Skåne, isolines as well as the map, shows the deglaciation shoreline, not the later transgressional stage (cf Lagerlund 1983, 1987).





Figure 5-4 Palaeogeographic reconstruction of Southern Sweden 10.300 BP. At this time the Baltic were dammed c. 25 m above sea-level. The map is based on shoreline data from the 'Swedish shoreline database 'and a digital elevation model from LMV with 500 m data spacing.

The drainage amount is estimated to be 26 m in south-central Sweden (Bergsten 1943), 26–28 m in Finland (Donner 1969, 1978, 1982), at least 26 m in Blekinge (Björck 1979, 1981), and c. 25 m on Gotland and in the Oskarshamn area (Svensson 1989, 1991a).

This event was dated by Nilsson (1968) to 8213 varve years B.C. Björck (1979) dated the drainage to 10,200-10,300 B.P. (B.P. denotes ¹⁴C years before present) in Blekinge, but Björck & Digerfeldt (1984) concluded that it was somewhat older, 10,400-10,500 B.P. Svensson (1989, 1991a) dated the drainage to c. 10,300 B.P. in the Oskarshamn area. Recently, Strömberg (1986) used distinct changes in the varved clay sequences to correlate this drainage to the revised Swedish varve chronology (Cato 1987), and thus dated the event to 10,690 varve years before present.

Based on assumed similar shore-displacement curves for the Baltic and the sea in the west, Svedhage (1985) proposed that the Baltic Ice Lake did not exist as a dammed stage, but instead was in level with the open sea. As a consequence no drainage would have occurred, and the fast regression at this time is explained by rapid tectonic uplift. Svensson (1989) concludes on the basis of investigations on Gotland and in the Oskarshamns area, that the drainage actually took place. He describes four different sets of observations speaking in favour of a drainage of c. 25 m in the later part of the Younger Dryas:

- 1. A very rapid regression, dated to c. 10,300 B.P., in an interval of c. 25 m.
- 2. The absence of beach-ridges in the interval, in contrast to their presence above and below.
- 3. A unit of coarse grained sediments associated with this regression indicates a sudden redeposition of sediments.
- 4. Similar gradients on the shorelines formed before and after the drainage indicates a fast regression.

The last shoreline formed by the Baltic Ice Lake is in the ice-marginal zone established by surfaces of ice marginal deltas, where a higher surface shows the pre-drainage shoreline and a younger c. 26 m lower surface shows the sea-level after drainage (Bergsten 1943). South of the ice marginal zone this shoreline is formed either as a distinct eroded shore notch, as a boulder field or as the lowest ridge in a sequence of beach-ridges.

This shoreline should be synchronously formed around the whole Baltic Ice Lake c. 10,300 B.P., and in general it is easy to identify both due to the absence of shorelines in an interval below, and the fact that the conditions for shoreline formation were especially favourable at this time (Svensson 1989). As a synchronously formed shoreline, with such a wide geographical extent, this shoreline is of significant interest for evaluation of land-uplift and various related parameters.

Regional synthesis: By the help of two new shore-displacement curves from Gotland and the Oskarshamn area (Svensson 1989), shore displacement curves from Blekinge (Björck 1979), Östergötland (Fromm 1976), and data from the Billingen area (Strömberg 1974, 1977, Björck & Digerfeldt 1984, 1989) the elevation of the 10,300 B.P. shoreline is rather well known. With this as a basis Svensson (1989) was able to correlate new shoreline levellings in the county of Kalmar and from Gotland with older studies from south Sweden to draw an isobase map for the last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline.

Based on a compilation of published data and new studies by Svensson, isolines of shorelines formed c. 10.300 BP were constructed (Fig. 5-4). At this time the Baltic was dammed c. 25 m above the ocean sea-level which formed shorelines on the Swedish West Coast. By combining these shore-linedata with a digital elevation model the palaeogeographic reconstruction of Fig. 5-4 were drawn.

It seems most probable that with further investigations the last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline could be mapped in more detail. Together with confirmation of its age in some more areas, as well as establishing some more shore displacement curves, such detailed knowledge of a synchronous shoreline would be of major importance for understanding the past and present landuplift, as well as for documenting local disturbances in uplift and possible neotectonic activity.

5.4.1.3 The first Yoldia shoreline

This Baltic shoreline is defined as formed directly after the last Baltic Ice Lake drainage when the Baltic had reached sea-level. Assuming an instantaneous drainage it should have the same age as the previously described last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline, but situated at c. 25–26 m lower elevation. This shoreline could be more suitable to study in some areas, although it is often less well developed. As it is believed to be directly related to the last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline the discussion above is applicable. However, as it was formed by the sea, tides and meterological caused water-level changes might have had some influence.

Regional synthesis: This shore line is not as well documented as the last Baltic Ice Lake shoreline, partly because the fact that it was destroyed during the Ancylus transgression south of the 25–30 m a.s.l. Ancylus isobase (running approximately from south central Gotland to Mönsterås).

This shoreline has been documented on Gotland (Philip 1989, Svensson 1989), and in Östergötland and Västergötland (e.g. Nilsson 1937, Bergsten 1943, Fromm 1976).

5.4.1.4 The Ancylus shoreline

Shells of the fresh-water snail Ancylus fluviatilis in beach deposits on Gotland lead to the recognition of an early fresh-water stage of the Baltic (Munthe 1887). A damming above sea level seems probable during the first part of the Ancylus stage (e.g. Munthe 1902, Björck 1987); during its later parts, however, the Baltic presumably was in contact with the sea for a period prior to the transition to saline water.

On Öland and on Gotland this shoreline, mainly developed as a beachridge, is characterized not only by its extraordinary size but also its content of fresh-water snail shells, especially Ancylus fluviatilis and Limnæa peregra (Munthe 1910a; Königsson 1964, 1967a). The Ancylus beach-ridge shows the transgressive nature of the stage as the ridge often overlies terrestrial or limnic organic deposits (Munthe 1910b, 1940, Lundqvist 1928, 1965; Königsson 1968b; Persson 1978). Well preserved Pinus logs are often found buried beneath the beach-ridge or corresponding minerogenic deposits on southern Gotland (Lundqvist 1965; Persson 1978).

The first part of the Ancylus stage is characterized by a transgression that seems to take place without any halts and is so rapid that its rate is hard to determine in detail. In the Oskarshamn area the transgression amounts to c. 11 m and the rate could be almost 5 m/100 years (Svensson 1989).

The absolute dating of the Ancylus transgression has been an important subject in the study of the Baltic shore displacement. The age determinations of the Ancylus stage varied considerably. Some studies have concluded that the transgression had begun c. 9500–9700 B.P. and culminated well before 9000 B.P. (e.g. Berglund 1964; Glückert & Ristaniemi 1982; Svensson 1985, 1989, 1991a; and Ristaniemi & Glückert 1987); others concluded that the whole sequence was much younger, not beginning until after 9000 B.P. and culminating 8300–8500 B.P., (e.g. Lundqvist 1965; Königsson 1968a; Kessel & Punning 1974; Kessel & Raukas 1979).

Svensson (1989) discusses these differences in age and relates them partly to the type of sediment investigated and dated. Investigations yielding older ages for the transgression were often based on lake sediment ¹⁴C dates (e.g. Berglund 1964; Glückert & Ristaniemi 1982; Svensson 1985, 1989; and Ristaniemi & Glückert 1987), while investigations yielding young ages often involved organic deposits (normally of terrestrial origin) buried beneath minerogenic shore deposits, (e.g. Königsson 1968a; Lundqvist 1965). Some of the difference in age could thus be ascribed to the reservoir effect which could be expected to give dates a few hundred years too old when ¹⁴C dating lake sediments. As most of the dated peats are found below only a few m of gravel and sand, contamination from downgrowth of roots seems highly possible in many cases. By comparing dates from timber (mostly very well preserved) buried beneath Ancylus gravel on Gotland and dates from peat in similar situations, Svensson (1989) found a difference of more than 500 yrs - probably caused by contamination of the peat by younger material.

Another reason for differing age of the transgression between areas is the different rates of land-uplift in the areas compared. Observations from a-round the Baltic, however, do not confirm that this is the main reason for the age differences discussed, as no clear relationship between uplift rate and the age of the transgression maximum is found except possibly between eastern and western Finland (Ristaniemi & Glückert 1987). The influence of different rates of land uplift on the culmination age of the transgression must also be limited due to the fast transgression.

It can also be argued that variations arise because two different transgressive stages have been studied. This, however, seems less probable, because no single site with two clearly distinguished transgressions of this age appears to have been documented in modern investigations.

This shoreline is of great value for studies of land uplift as it is possible to study regionally, and was formed almost synchronously. The shoreline is well known and easily mapped on the islands of Öland and Gotland. In the county of Kalmar and Östergötland some rather easily performed studies of lake stratigraphies will give a better knowledge of this shoreline's elevation. A direct mapping of the shoreline will then be possible, which will give us a detailed knowledge of its elevation in the region. Further north, possibly even in southern Norrland, it could be established through shore displacement curves based on lake isolations. The reduced rate of relative uplift during the Ancylus culmination has probably resulted in a shoreline detectable by the help of the shore displacement curves.

Regional synthesis: This shoreline formed at the maximum of the Ancylus transgression is south of the 10-15 m isobase destroyed by the later Litorina transgression. The shoreline is generally very distinct on the islands of Öland and Gotland, where it was mapped in detail by Munthe (1910a) on Gotland, and by Munthe (1902), Munthe & Hedström (1904), and Lundqvist (1928) on Öland. In the county of Kalmar (except Öland) observations are from scattered localities, e.g. Munthe (1902, 1940), Munthe & Hedström (1904), Thomasson (1926), Nilsson (1953, 1968), Königsson (1967b, 1968ab), Mikaelsson (1978), Rudmark (1988), and Svensson (1989).

Assarsson (1927) presented information, based on lake sediment stratigraphies and shorelines, about the highest limits of the Ancylus transgression (c. 70 m asl) in eastern Östergötland. The Linköping area seems to display the northernmost evidence of a transgressive Ancylus Lake at c. 75 m a.s.l. (Munthe 1940, Fromm 1976). In northern Östergötland the Ancylus transgression could not exceed the land uplift, and Persson (1979) shows that this stage is here represented by a stillstand or a decreased rate of regression. Correspondingly, no transgressive shoreline is found here and further northwards. However, the Ancylus shoreline (at least up to the c. 110 m isobase) still often forms a significant beach-ridge in southernmost Svealand (Munthe 1940).

5.4.1.5 The Postglacial transgression maximum (Litorina) shoreline

Because the eustatic rise in the middle of the Holocene was more rapid than the uplift rate in large parts of Sweden this transgression continued around the Swedish coasts, culminating in the Postglacial transgression maximum on the west coast and the Litorina transgression on the Swedish east coast. The culmination of this transgression was complex, with a series of several minor culminations in which the highest (in absolute terms) was not the first. Thus, depending on the rate of land uplift, it varies which of these culminations caused the transgression maximum between different regions in Sweden. In areas of high uplift rate the first culmination reached the highest, whereas in areas with low land uplift a later culmination reached highest. This shoreline is thus metachronous; in Blekinge it is dated to c. 5000-5500 B.P. (Berglund 1964, Liljegren 1982), in western Skåne c. 4800 B.P. (Digerfeldt 1972, 1975), in the Göteborg area somewhere between 7700 and 7200 B.P. (G. Persson 1973, Mörner 1976b, Påsse 1983), on Gotland c. 6700 B.P. (Persson 1978), in the Nyköping area c. 6200 B.P. (G. Persson 1973), and in the Stockholm area c. 7000 B.P. (Miller & Robertsson 1981, Sandgren & Risberg 1990).

As this shoreline can be identified both on the west and east coasts of Sweden, and mostly is of significant size, it is of considerable interest for reconstructing the former land uplift. However, its metachronous character has to be considered in the interpretations and detailed biostratigraphical investigations and datings are needed in more areas to regionally establish the age of the shoreline.

Regional synthesis: Based on a compilation of published data, isolines of shoreline observations dated to around 6500 BP were constructed (Fig. 5-5). At this time the postglacial transgression (Tapes/Litorina) reach one of its earlier culminations. By combining these shorelinedata with a digital ele-



Figure 5-5 Palaeogeographic reconstruction of Southern Sweden c. 6500 BP. At this time the first postglacial transgression (Tapes/Litorina) culminates. The map is based on shoreline data from the 'Swedish shoreline database 'and a digital elevation model from LMV with 500 m data spacing.

vation model the palaeogeographic reconstruction of Fig. 5-5 were drawn. The shoreline formed by the highest postglacial transgression has been frequently studied and is thus well represented in the literature, especially in the descriptions to the geological maps, and below only a few authors are cited.

The shoreline of the postglacial transgression maximum along the whole Swedish west coast is mostly very beautifully developed as a beach ridge or as a shore cliff or shore cut (Mörner 1969).

In northern Bohuslän the Postglacial transgression could not exceed the land uplift — the northernmost signs of actual transgressions (reaching close to 45 m asl) are found in central Bohuslän somewhat south of Uddevalla (G. Persson 1973). Recently, Miller & Robertson (1988) briefly report some indications of the transgression c. 20 km further to the north. At Göteborg the transgression culminates at c. 23–25 m a.s.l. (G. Persson 1973, Påsse 1983). At Morup close to Falkenberg the transgression reached 13.5 m asl, at Båstad c. 8 m asl, and close to Höganäs c. 6 m a.s.l. (Mörner 1969). Further south at Barsebäck, c. 20 km north of Malmö, Digerfeldt (1975) found the maximum transgression to reach 4 m asl.

Along the south and east coasts of Götaland this shoreline is also often well developed, frequently of a significant size. In Blekinge it is situated at c. 7-8 m a.s.l. (Berglund 1964, Liljegren 1982). At Borgholm, on Öland, the transgression reached 17 m a.s.l. (Munthe & Hedström 1904), northernmost Gotland c. 27 m a.s.l. (Munthe 1910b), eastern Östergötland 37-40 m a.s.l. (Assarsson 1927), and Stockholm c. 50-58 m a.s.l. (Miller & Robertsson 1981, Sandgen & Risberg 1990). Further to the north the transgressive character of the shoreline disappears. In Norrland this shoreline is not easily recognized in the field and stratigraphical studies, mainly diatom analyzes are needed to identify it. In Northern Hälsingland it is found at c. 115 m a.s.l. (G.Lundqvist 1963), and close to Örnsköldsvik at c. 123 m a.s.l. (Miller et al 1979).

5.4.2 Stratigraphically determined shorelines

5.4.2.1 Methods

To establish the shore displacement for an area it is necessary to date deposits directly related to the shore displacement. This can be done in several ways:

- By dating organic deposits within or just below beach deposits.
- By dating peat formed by plants which have grown close to sea-level. To estimate the former sea-level the peat should rest on firm ground so that compaction below the peat can be avoided.
- By dating delta surfaces that were built up close to sea-level.
- By detailed stratigraphical studies of the sediments in a single basin. The sediment's composition and content of macro- and micro-fossils is analyzed and the former depth of the shallow sea is deduced from the ecology of the observed species.
- By dating lake sediment deposited either when the lake was separated from the sea (because of uplift) or when the sea inumdates into the lake

basin. The elevation of sea at the time of isolation/inundation is obtained from levelling of the lake threshold.

The dating methods used in the above methods are generally ¹⁴C dating, either direct dating of the sediment or indirectly by pollen stratigraphical correlations to a thoroughly ¹⁴C dated lake sediment stratigraphy. However, annually laminated sediments, e.g. lake sediments, varved clays, or varved delta sediments, have occasionally been used.

In one case (Lidén 1938) delta surfaces dated by varve chronology have been used to establish a shore displacement curve. The usual method to establish the shore displacement in Sweden is to date lake isolations and thus this method will be described more in detail.

The method requires the use of a number of lakes situated at different elevations so that the ages of lake isolations are spaced in time. The lakes need to be situated in a rather small area so that the differential land uplift between the lakes is not too large. This differential uplift is normally compensated for, but as the pattern of uplift through time is not known in detail, this compensation is more or less uncertain and must be kept rather small. The levelled threshold elevations of the lakes are used as a measure of the former sea-level. It is therefore important that the threshold has not been severely altered by later erosion or deposition. Thresholds on easily eroded soils are thus more uncertain than bedrock thresholds. The sediments from a suitable lake (or overgrown lake) are sampled by some type of corer, and the sediment description usually gives a rough indication of where the isolation horizon is to be found. The isolation (or inundation) horizon is established in detail by determining the sediment composition and studying the microfossil content — an isolation from the saline sea is indicated by the change from saline to fresh water diatom floras. The time of isolation can be obtained by a ¹⁴C date of the sediment at the isolation level. However, this often yields erroneous ages, especially in Late Weichselian and early Holocene sediments. To check the obtained dates a good pollen stratigraphy is needed for the time around the isolation. In many situations (especially for Late Weichselian and early Holocene isolations) it is even better to carefully ¹⁴C date the regional pollen stratigraphy in a lake with suitable sediments, and then apply ages to the individual lake isolations by detailed pollen stratigraphical correlations.

5.4.2.2 Swedish shore displacement curves

A number of modern shore displacement curves have been established in Sweden by the help of 14 C dates or dates by annually laminated sediments, and Figure 5-6 shows the location and time interval covered by these investigations. Figure 5-7 permits comparisons between the different shore displacement curves. To space the different curves in the figure, each one was started at the present land uplift of the site. This comparison emphasizes the regional differences, some of which can be mentioned:

- The dammed Baltic stages e.g. the Baltic Ice Lake and the Ancylus lake, clearly affects the shore displacement as seen in curve 2, 3, 5, 7, and 11.
- The rates of present land uplift are correlated to former rates of shore displacement.



- The minor fluctuations in shore displacement, mainly believed to be of eustatic origin, shows large discrepancies in amplitude between different investigations. The expected behaviour that the amplitude should decrease in areas with higher uplift rates is not clear from all investigations. In fact several curves show rather the opposite relation.
- 5.4.2.3 The course of shore displacement

During deglaciation of the southernmost part of Sweden, Skåne, at c. 13,000-14,000 B.P. relatively little is known about shore displacement and the configuration of sea and dammed glacial lakes. It seems clear that the west coast of Skåne have been under marine influence for at least part of this period as polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*, formerly *Gadus polaris*) were found in clays probably deposited at this time (de Geer 1884). In areas where the shore displacement is established for this period (Fig. 5.7) a fast regression takes place.

During Allerød (c. 11,000–12,000 B.P.) the regression in southern parts of the Swedish West coast continues to be rather fast, whereas in western south-central Sweden the regression slows down until close to 11,000 B.P. when it again becomes faster. On the east coast the Baltic Ice Lake prob-

Figure 5-6 Areas with modern shore displacement curves. The watch at each site (or region) show the time interval covered by shore displacement curves, each 'hour' corresponds to 1000 years. Numbers in square brackets refers to the shore displacement curve(s) in Fig. 5.7. Data from the 'Swedish Shoreline Database'.

Central Bohuslän [14, 15]. Persson (1973), Miller & Robertsson (1988). Northern Halland and Göteborg area [8, 14], Persson (1973), Påsse (1983,1987). Kroppefjäll [32], Björck & Digerfeldt (1991). Hunneberg [16], Björck & Digerfeldt (1982). Risveden [12], Svedhage (1985). Billingen [13], Björck & Digerfeldt (1986). Viskan valley [6], Mörner (1969, 1980b), these investigations covers besides from the main area, Viskan Valley, the Swedish West Coast from Göteborg southwards to Skåne. Barsebäck [1], Digerfeldt (1975). Central and eastern Blekinge [2, 3, 5], Berglund (1964), Björck (1979, 1981), Björck & Möller (1987), Liljegren (1982). Oskarshamn area [7], Svensson (1989, 1991a). Central Gotland [11], Svensson (1989, 1991a). Linköping [17], Fromm (1976). Rejmyra [18], Persson (1979). Stockholm region [19, 20, 21, 22, 23], Möller & Stålhös (1964, 1969), Åse (1970), Digerfeldt (1981), Digerfeldt et al (1980), Miller & Robertsson (1981), Åse & Bergström (1982), Miller (1982), Sandgren & Risberg (1990). Örebro [24], Magnusson (1970). Uppland [25], Robertsson & Persson (1989). Northern Hälsingland [26], G. Lundqvist (1962, 1963). Västernorrland [28], J. Lundqvist (1987). Sollefteå [27], Lidén (1938). Anundsjö [31], Miller & Robertsson (1979). Västerbotten [29, 30], Broadbent (1979), Renberg & Segerström (1981).



ably becomes successively dammed to a higher level, thus decreasing the rate of the regression. At c. 11,200 B.P. a fast drop of the Baltic's level is recorded in a study from Blekinge (Björck 1979, 1981) interpreted as a drainage down to sea-level taking place when the ice margin withdrew north of Mt. Billingen in south central Sweden.

During the Younger Dryas (c. 10,000–11,000 B.P.), which was a very cold period, the ice advanced and closed the passage at Billingen (Björck & Digerfeldt 1984, 1986) and once again a damming of the Baltic took place. The advancing ice at this time also affected the shore displacement west of Billingen. Björck & Digerfeldt (1991) have observed distinctly reduced rates of land uplift at this time at Kroppefjäll, Dalsland, caused by the nearby ice-loading and possibly glacio-geoidal effects. During late Younger Dryas, at a time when the ice was retreating again, high rates of regression are observed at the west coast. The Baltic Ice Lake once again drained (by c. 25 m) down to sea level when the ice retreated north of Billingen (Munthe 1910b, Björck & Digerfeldt 1984, 1986) after which a fast regression

Figure 5-7 Swedish shore-displacement curves. Ages in ¹⁴C years, (T 1/2 5568) except for curve 27 dated in sideral years by varve chronology and curve 29 dated by varve counting. The left vertical axis shows the apparent land uplift rates for the areas of the shore displacement curves (uplift values from Ussisoo 1977). The right vertical scale shows the relative elevation scale in m a.s.l. for each curve, each curve has an individual zero point where it intersect with the left axis. The hatched continuation of the curves is for finding the zero m a.s.l. point and is not derived from the original author. Data from the 'Swedish Shoreline Database'.

1. Barsebäck, Skåne (Digerfeldt 1972), 2. Southeastern Blekinge (Berglund 1964). 3. Spjälkö, Blekinge (Liljegren 1982). 4. Southern Halland (-50 km) (Mörner 1980b). 5. Central Blekinge (Björck 1979, 1981, Björck & Möller 1987). 6. Viskan valley, Halland (0 km) (Mörner 1980b). 7. Oskarshamn, Småland (Svensson 1989, 1991a), 8. Sandsjöbacka, Halland (Påsse 1987), 9. Göteborg (+50 km) (Mörner (1980b), 10. Göteborg (Persson 1973), Göteborg, 11. Central Gotland (Svensson 1989,1991a), 12. Risveden, Västergötland (Svedhage (1985), 13, Billingen Västergötland (Björck & Digerfeldt (1986), 14. Kolbengtserödsjön, Bohuslän (Persson 1973), 15. Central Bohuslän (Miller & Robertsson 1988), 16. Hunneberg, Västergötland (Björck & Digerfeldt 1982), 17, Linköping (Fromm 1976), 18. Rejmyra, Östergötland (Persson 1979), 19. Stockholm (Åse 1970), 20. Stockholm (Miller & Robertsson 1981), 21. Stockholm (Möller & Stålhös 1964), 22. Ådran, Stockholm (Sandgren & Risberg 1990), 23. Stockholm (Åse & Bergström 1982), 24. Örebro (Magnusson 1970), 25. Northern Uppland (Robertsson & Persson 1989), 26. Northern Hälsingland (G. Lundqvist 1962, 1963), 27. Ångermanälven, Ångermanland (Lidén 1938), age in sidereal years before present, redated according to Cato (1987), 28. Västernorrland (J. Lundqvist 1987), 29. Southern Västerbotten (Renberg & Segerström 1981), age in sidereal years before present, 30. Västerbotteno (Broadbent 1979), 31. Anundsjö, Ångermanland (Miller & Robertsson 1979). 32. Kroppefjäll, Björck & Digerfeldt (1991)

began.

In Early Holocene (c. 8000–10,000 B.P.) the rates of glacio-isostatic land uplift where still higher than the eustatic rise of the sea during the first part of this period and around southernmost Sweden the sea-level fell far below present day sea-level. On the West Coast this regression ceased at c. 9500– 9300 B.P. and the sea soon began to rise — the onset of the post glacial transgression(s). In the Baltic the regression ceased even somewhat earlier at c. 9700–9600 B.P. when the outlets straits of the Baltic in central Sweden began to close due to the on-going land-uplift (Munthe 1910b, Björck 1987). This caused the Ancylus transgression, which culminated somewhat before 9000 B.P. (Svensson 1989, 1991a) when the outlet was redirected to the Danish straits. After this change in outlet a rather fast regression took place in the Baltic, and the Baltic quite soon became in level with the sea (Björck 1987, Eronen et al. 1990).

Mid and late Holocene (c. 8000 B.P. – present time), this period is first characterised by the rising sea, the Postglacial transgression, or the Litorina transgression in the Baltic. The culmination of this transgression is metachronous, and youngest in the south due to the low rates of glacio isostatic land-uplift there. This transgression is divided into several oscillations to which some agreement possibly exist in time but which amplitude in different parts of the country seems hard to explain. After the culmination of this transgression a regression down to present day sea-level took place during which some oscillations is documented. In the Baltic the lowered sea-level reduced the area of the Danish straits. As a consequence the Baltic become less saline.

5.5 **NEOTECTONICS**

One of the most clear evidence of movement in the earth's crust is well developed tectonic structures. However, such distinct structures of proved Quaternary age, thus possibly of a glacioisostatic origin, from Sweden is not commonly described in the literature. This interesting and debated field of study will only be briefly mentioned below, but is further treated in chapter 7 and 8.

The dating of these structures is important and their age is mainly derived from the deposit or the structure the dislocation cuts, some times the date is further improved by a non-dislocated deposit found above the fault. Possible evidence for a Late Quaternary age could be:

- Faulting of a glacially striated bedrock surface,
- Formation of tectonic structures which not would be able to survive a glaciation:
- Dislocation of linear Quaternary features such as shorelines, eskers, or dislocation of sediment deposits, possibly overlain by younger non-dislocated sediments.

The type of structure indicating tectonics could be:

• Faults, either as large dislocations along a fault-line, a good example of this is the Pärve Fault in Swedish Lapland (Lundqvist & Lagerbäck

1976, Lagerbäck 1979), or of a smaller extent such as described from central and southern Sweden by Lagerlund (1977), Björkman & Trädgårdh (1982), Mörner (1978, 1985). Further can vertical displacement within Quaternary sediments indicate neotectonic activity, of such gives Flodén & Winterhalter (1981) an example of from the central Baltic Sea.

Boulder caves formed by large accumulations of huge boulders which ٠ are broken up from the bedrock. The boulders are often glacially abraded and striated which indicates a post-glacial age for the formation of the cave. Such caves are described from central and northern Sweden by R. Sjöberg (1987), Agrell (1986), and Ekman (1988). These authors ascribes the formation of the caves to earthquakes occurring at the end of deglaciation. Ekman (1988) further discusses their formation and suggest that three very large boulder caves at the coast of Medelpad and northern Hälsingland were formed during major earthquakes produced by the effect of the Gaussian curvature. The effect of the Gaussian curvature was according to Ekman (1988) concentrated to the area of maximum uplift rate close to deglaciation — the coast of Medelpad and northern Hälsingland, and was most intence in early Post glacial time. However, the theory does not explain the occurrence of the smaller boulder caves in other regions of Sweden.

Regional studies of shore lines can reveal important information on larger irregularites in the uplift pattern. An example of such a disturbance with relatively higher land-uplift, observed in an area extending from southeast Finland to western Estonia, northern Lithuania and across the Baltic to Gotland and Öland, is given by Svensson (1991b). The explanation of this feature is not clear, possibly could it be related to large scale tectonics, deep crustal structures or higher ice load during the last glacial period.

GEOPHYSICAL MODELLING — ISOSTASY/EUSTASY — FUTURE PROGNOSES

The long tradition of research in Fennoscandian relative sea level history has led to an almost unique amount of data/unit area. In spite of the relatively good (but obviously not sufficient) information different scientists reach different conclusions about the geophysical characteristics and thus also about the behaviour of the lithosphere and the upper and lower mantle since the last deglaciation. This can partly be explained by the fact that different approaches and prerequisites have been used by scientists from different disciplines. It is hardly surprising that modellers (e.g. Clark, 1980; Peltier 1985, 1987), geophysicists (e.g. Anderson, 1984; Fjeldskaar, 1989) and geologists (e.g. Mörner 1981) come to smaller (or larger) differences concerning the properties of the lithosphere and mantle. Being a geologist without geophysical skills it is almost impossible to evaluate and review the different theories. It is, however, obvious that foreign (outer Scandinavian) scientists often do not have access to or are not aware of the up-to-date and best geological data from the Fennoscandian region. Therefore we will mainly focus on the results from Scandinavian researchers.

According to Mörner's (1979) calculations, based mainly on late-, and postglacial uplift data, the absolute Fennoscandian uplift in the centre of the uplift cone is slightly more than 800 m (Figure 6-1). The model of Fjeldskaar (unfortunately still being a secret report which prohibits citing actual values or figures) gives slightly lower maximum uplift values, based mainly on a thick ice model and best-fitting earth rheology parameters. In e.g. the Stockholm region Mörner's (1979) uplift model gives values of c. 500 m absolute uplift while Fjeldskaar's computer based model shows significantly larger values of uplift. The latter also holds true for the whole of Sweden, except for the uplift cone region.

Estimations of remaining land uplift seem more uncertain. This is mainly due to uncertainties about the values on remaining rise of the geoid and to what extent these values reflect postglacial mass deficiency and/or mass deficiency of other origin. With Ekman's (1977) formula and Bjerhammar's (1980) and Kakkuri's (1985) value of c. 10 m for remaining geoid rise the remaining land uplift becomes c. 150 m. Most people working with these problems do, however, seem to agree that a correction for the crustal structure according to Anderson (1984) has to be made. This correction reduces the remaining geoid rise to c. 2 m which in turn results in a much lower remaining land uplift value of c. 30 m (Ekman 1989). Together with the previously mentioned uplift data this suggests that the absolute uplift in the uplift centre since the last glaciation is in the order of 800–850 m. This gives an intimation of the expected down-warping in an uplift centre during future full glacial conditions. If we focus our predictions to the Stockholm region with three different glacial scenarios we might expect the events described below. The predictions are complicated since it is unlikely that the area was characterized by isostatic equilibrum under any of the phases described below. Most other parameters are also uncertain so the following section should only be regarded as a rough attempt to illustrate how we can use our knowledge to describe possible future situations.

- A glaciation restricted to Northern Sweden and the mountain area: As the glaciation increases the area will possibly be uplifted to a small extent, both absolutely and relatively, as an effect of a southwards moving small forebulge and falling sea levels. These two uplifting effects will thus be greater than the ice-sheet gravity effect (causing a higher gravimetric geoid close to the ice-margin) since the postulated ice-margin is situated too far from the area to have a significant effect (e.g. Fjeldskaar and Kanestrøm, 1980). During the deglaciation of such a minor glaciation the area will submerge but probably without a marine transgression.
- A glaciation restricted to Northern and Central Sweden down to ap-. proximately Stockholm's latitude: During the build-up of such a glaciation the area will first experience the uplift effects of the southwards migrating forebulge and the falling sea level (in order to keep in pace with the falling sea level the Baltic waters will have to erode and deepen the Danish straits at a critical point). As the ice-margin gets closer the down-warping will begin, local sea level will rise as a consequence of the ice-sheet gravity effect, and the global sea level will keep falling. The added effect will probably not result in any transgression of the Stockholm region. With a final ice-margin at Stockholm's latitude and an ice-sheet profile according to Hughes (1981) we could expect an ice thickness at Stockholm of c. 800-1000 m. Let us regard this as a temporary advance of the ice-sheet and use the same prerequisites as e.g. Quinlan and Beaumont (1981) used for their calculations: a 1 km thick advance into a 5° x 5° (550 km x 400 km) area during 3000 years. The down-warping effect would under such circumstances be c. 50 m (Figure 6-2) and becoming greater the longer the advance lasts (a e.g. rather unlikely 10,000 year long advance will result in c. 90 m downwarping). If we use Imbrie and Imbrie's (1980) model output curve, sea level during such a glaciation would possibly fall 70-100 m. Although we might expect a rapid deglaciation (according to the marine records the most significant "terminations" seem to be surprisingly rapid) the area will probably, under the above outlined circumstances, not be flooded by the Baltic. This will be followed by an isostatic uplift with an uplift maximum quite close to deglaciation. Thus it is not likely that the area will be transgressed by Baltic waters during the described scenario above.
- A full glaciation, roughly corresponding to isotope stage 2: During the early build-up stage the area will be uplifted (see above), but this will soon be followed by a gradual down-warping as the ice-margin gets closer and the area is finally covered by the growing ice-sheet. The down-warping will continue until slightly after the maximum ice thick-



Figure 6-1 Contours of the total absolute uplift and subsidence in relation to the last glaciation of the Fennoscandian Shield. Heavy line gives the extension of the Late Weichselian ice cap. The North Sea forebulge trough is assumed to circumscribe the uplift cone uniformly. From Mörner (1979). Reprinted with permission from N-A Mörner from 'The Fennoscandian uplift and Late Cenozoic geodynamics: geological evidence', by N-A Mörner 1979. GeoJournal 3.3, pp. 287-318.

ness has been attained as an effect of the time-lag between ice load and isostatic response. The area will be covered by ice, with a maximum thickness of 2000–3000 m (Wu & Peltier, 1983; Denton & Hughes, 1981, respectively) during a time period of 10–20,000 years. The maximum down-warping of the area will possibly be in the order of 500– 700 m (see above). As the final deglaciation sets in the ice-sheet will soon start to become thinner, and, slightly delayed, the uplift will commence. It is not completely unrealistic to postulate that the deglaciation pattern and relative sea level changes will roughly follow the same development known from our studies on the Late Weichselian-Holocene. Many Finnish studies show that the Eemian development was in many ways, broadly speaking, similar to the last lateglacial-postglacial development (Eronen, 1989). With this postulation the Stockholm region will undergo quite significant changes. In spite of high uplift rates at the time of deglaciation (in the order of 10 m/100 years) the area will be inundated by glacial lake waters at and some time after deglaciation. It is, however, not likely that the Baltic Sea will experience the same post-glacial development as it did during the Holocene, since this complex development seems to have been very dependent on the altitudes and uplift rates of the shifting thresholds of the Baltic basin (Björck, 1989). Since we know that glaciations are capable of altering the landscape significantly many of the recent preconditions will most likely have changed at the termination of the next glacial stage and at the beginning of the following interglacial. It does, on the other hand, seem likely that the Stockholm region, during a future interglacial, will be inundated by fresh and marine (brackish) water. In this context it is, however, important to stress that the Finnish-Russian-Estonian studies on Eemian sea level history (e.g. Forsström et al., 1987, 1988; Liivrand, 1987) suggest striking differences in the configuration (e.g. shoreline tilts) of Eemian and Holocene shorelines. Whether these differences have been caused by local/regional anomalies in the uplift pattern (e.g. tectonic movements) or by differences in the "threshold history" of the Baltic Sea is not clear.



Figure 6-2 The relative sea level history resulting from a 1 km thick ice advance into
(a) a 1° x 1° area and (b) a 5° x 5° area, both centred on 45° N latitude. The ice remains permanently, 1000 years, or 3000 years. the calculation is for a point at the edge of the ice advance. From Quinlan and Beaumont (1981). Reprinted with permission from National Research Council of Canada. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 18, pp. 1146-1163. A comparision of observed and theoretical postglacial relative sea level in Atlantic Canada, by G Quinlan and C Beaumont 1981.

54

FAULT ZONES

Numerous reports on non-uniform Late Weichselian-Holocene uplift patterns have been presented from glaciated regions of NW Europe (Fennoscandia and the British Isles). Many of these have been attributed to neotectonic activity, especially in connection with the high uplift rates during the deglaciation of the different areas. We think it is very likely that sudden tectonic movements were one part of the uplift pattern during (and even after) the deglaciation of the Fennoscandian Ice Sheet. We also think that the actual extent of such movements is far from known. This is owing partly to the fact that the small amplitude vertical movements (in the order of a few metres) are often hidden in the large scale pattern of high uplift rates that characterized the termination of the last glaciation. It is also partly due to the absence of any detailed summary of the Late Weichselian-Holocene uplift history of Scandinavia despite the vast amount of data potentially available. One of the main reasons for creating the data base described above is to try to map anomalies in the uplift pattern in order to find bedrock zones that have been subject to neotectonic activity. However, it should be noted that small amplitude movements (1-2 m) will be almost impossible to find without using some of the field work methods mentioned below. In order to find tectonic movements that are less than c. 5 m with the help of the data base one would need very detailed studies in carefully selected areas with exceptionally favourable conditions. Although a few such studies already exist, there is certainly a need for more research, e.g. at important bedrock boundaries or fracture zones, and around the Protogine shear zone or when possible fault zones have been indicated from the data base analyses.

We see no point in trying to pick out or map fault zones that might have been activated during late-, or postglacial time before a proper and detailed analysis of a large amount of high-quality data has been carried out (cf. the shoreline database). Only then will it be possible to try to draw some conclusions about future fault zones, if this is ever possible!

7

FIELD METHODS FOR ESTABLISHING POSTGLACIAL IRREGULAR HORIZONTAL/VERTICAL BEDROCK MOVEMENTS – SOME EXAMPLES

In the following section only Quaternary Geological methods will be discussed. Apart from researchers like e.g. like N-A Mörner (e.g. Mörner 1978; Mörner et al. 1989 and other studies) and R Lagerbäck (e.g. Lundqvist and Lagerbäck 1976, Lagerbäck 1979 and other studies) very few Swedish Quaternary researchers have seriously worked with the subject of neotectonics. Those two have together covered most of the methods described below. In the following section only field methods will be dealt with since the only Quaternary "laboratory" method, i.e. the shoreline data base, has been mentioned in chapter 5 and 7. It should also be pointed out that paleoenvironmental reconstructions are often necessary in order to ascribe many of the neotectonic indicators mentioned below to a real neotectonic event instead of relating them to other processes, such as e.g. dead-ice melting (faults and collapse structures) or water level changes (slumpings, slidings, and hiatuses).

8.1 STRATIGRAPHIC METHODS

Perhaps the most powerfull method of establishing and dating vertical tectonic movements is to find evidence for displacement of a stratigraphic sequence. If other possibilities (e.g. glaciotectonics or other sediment disturbing processes) can be ruled out this type of evidence can give both an age and an amplitude of the neotectonic activity. This type of neotectonic evidence is obviously best shown in open sections, but can also be demonstrated by e.g. corings and seismic studies. The "school-book example" is a sequence of displaced layers (units) covered by layers not affected by the displacement. One would also expect to find slumpings and slidings of sediments in connection with the fault zone. If it is possible to date the youngest displaced layer the maximum age of the displacing event will be obtained. Additionally, if it is also possible to date the oldest, not displaced layer, the event will possibly be dated accurately providing a good dating tool is available. In cases like this it is also often possible to determine the amplitude of the vertical displacement.

Another way of finding these types of vertical movements is through corings, seismic profiles or even better; a combination of both. These studies can be performed in the sea, in lakes, and on land, but are often expensive. They do, however, have the undisputable advantage of being applicable in most areas, i.e. investigations can be made in areas where possible fault zones occur. The lake based operations, on ice, or with boats, are undoubtedly the cheapest kind of operations, while the other types might be very costly. Many of the likely fault zones are also possibly situated along lake systems. The basic precondition to success lies in finding and being able to follow synchronous units with a combination of seismic profiles and corings. When a possible fault has been detected by e.g. displacement of synchronous units draped by a covering unit detailed corings might be carried out on both sides of the probable fault. In such cases one would also expect to find different sediment disturbances in the cores as e.g. slumping and sliding of layers in the submerged parts and hiatuses in the uplifted parts of the stratigraphy. The amplitude of such vertical movements can usually be estimated.

Horizontal movements are usually more difficult to detect in stratigraphic sequences, since the layering usually is horizontal itself and the effects of such movements often can be ascribed to other processes. The amplitude may also often be difficult to estimate. However, when horizontal movements can be confirmed in stratigraphic sequences, the dating possibilities are the same as for the vertical movements.

8.2 MORPHOLOGIC METHODS

Displaced morphological units such as e.g. displaced raised beaches or glaciofluvial eskers, do probably provide us with some of the best examples of neotectonic activity. This owes to the fact that they are usually clearly distinguished features and that any distinct horizontal or vertical displacement of such formations are easy to distinguish in the field. The amplitude of the displacement can also be estimated. If the age of e.g. the local deglaciation (eskers) or a certain shore line height (raised beaches) is known the maximum age of the displacement will be obtained. A targeted inventory on these kind of features combined with mapping of possible fault zones would certainly provide us with new data concerning the frequency of postglacial neotectonic activity.

The abundant, often glacially eroded, bedrock surfaces in Sweden constitute a potentially vast source for studies of neotectonic activity. It is possible to investigate the effects of larger or smaller, horizontal or vertical, irregularities in bedrock movements by mapping and in detail studying fracture systems on top of such surfaces. Such types of neotectonic indicators are, however, often afflicted with interpretation problems. One of the main reasons is that they are often difficult to date. Without a way of obtaining at least maximum ages of a supposed bedrock displacement it is naturally difficult, at least for Quaternary Geologists, to classify the displacement as having a neotectonic origin. However, when weathering of bedrock surfaces has been restricted by e.g. covering soils or by the hardness of the bedrock type, glacial striations may be a very useful dating tool. Since the predominant part of the glacial striations (and other ice-movement indicators) found on bedrock surfaces were partly formed during the last glaciation (c. 30,000 to c. 18,000 B.P.) but mostly during the deglacial part of that phase (c. 18,000 to c. 9000 B.P.) they constitute a rough dating tool. Under favourable circumstances it is thus possible to find cut off and displaced (horizontally or vertically) striations at fracture zones. If e.g. the striations coincide with the last local ice-movement the maximum age of the displacement will be approximately the same as the local deglaciation age. This will usually also be the case when a significant vertical displacement is found facing the last local ice-movement without any traces of glacial erosion.

8.3 CONCLUSIONS

It is hopefully clear from the above that more targeted efforts have to be made to be able to establish, date, and map the extent of postglacial neotectonic activity. We propose that earth-scientists from different disciplines, with "open eyes", work in common projects to solve these often debated questions. The Quaternary Geologists' best contribution to such projects should probably be by combining shore line data, by e.g. analyses within the shore line data base, with the above mentioned field work methods. Through collaboration with other suitable earth-scientists this could probably be a fruitful starting-point to understand more about the irregularities that most probably have characterized parts of the Fennoscandian uplift history since the last deglaciation.

9 GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

9.1 THE GEOLOGIC DATA

This report has briefly presented some basic knowledge about the Pleistocene climatic changes and their effects on the Earth system as evidenced by different types of geologic data. From those data we can conclude that:

- There is a close linkage between marine records, past climate, and Milankovitch's orbital parameters, but there are also more or less enigmatic linkages that are not well understood.
- The glacial/interglacial cycles have caused sea level changes in the order of 100-150 m.
- The glaciated/deglaciated regions, such as Sweden, have experienced periods of major, sometimes complex, down-warping/uplift movements. that may also involve neotectonic activity.
- Based on a shoreline database it is possible to map the lateglacial/postglacial uplift pattern in detail to detect areas and periods with irregular bedrock movements.

9.2 IMPLICATIONS AND SPECULATIONS FOR THE FUTURE

The report has also outlined the probable driving mechanisms and feed-back effects behind the climatic/environmental changes (excluding man's influence on the atmospheric, terrestrial, and marine systems). Since the basic driving mechanisms most likely have an astronomical origin (the Milankovitch orbital parameters) it is possible to mathematically calculate these parameters into the future. The shoreline database combined with targeted fieldwork will also give us possibilities to map possible future fault zones. We can thus also conclude that:

- 1. By testing the model output to the past orbital and ¹⁸O cycles it is theoretically possible to create a model that produces a likely ¹⁸O curve into the future. Based on such a curve (Imbrie and Imbrie, 1980), by relating it to the ¹⁸O and climatic changes of the past as revealed by our geologic data, and as long as man's influence on the system is negligible, some general conclusions can be drawn about major future climatic changes and their effects in a chosen region. In this case the conclusions below are mainly focused to the Stockholm region, and that during the coming 100,000 years we may expect approximately the following scenario:
 - a) after a long period of increasing mountain glaciation and permafrost extension (both horizontally and vertically) the first glacial episode

will culminate in c. 23,000 years from now, but has from a theoretical viewpoint almost already begun. Although this stadial period seems to become the least extensive of the three, it will most likely mean that large parts of Sweden, probably including the Stockholm region, gradually will be covered by an ice-sheet. The glacial peak will last perhaps 5000 years, but

- b) during the following rather cool and dry interstadial conditions larger glaciers will possibly survive in the Swedish mountains. Those conditions together with a probably quite harsh climate at the end of this interstadial suggest that
- c) the next ice-sheet will grow quite rapidly. This glaciation will culminate in c. 63.000 years from now but most parts of Sweden will possibly be glaciated some thousands of years before that. It will be a major glaciation, comparable to the maximum of the last glaciation, and the Stockholm region will probably be covered by the ice-sheet for at least 10,000 years, and possibly much longer. A rapid deglaciation will
- d) lead to and culminate in interglacial conditions, comparable with todays, in c. 75,000 years from now. These relatively warm conditions may last for 10,000-15,000 years, but will slowly grade into
- e) a glacial climate that will culminate in c. 100,000 years from now.
 This glaciation will probably be rather extensive, but will possibly not develop as rapidly as the former one.

It is obviously impossible to give true quantitative values for any parameter during the five different hypothetic stages (a-e) outlined above. We will, however, try to date and define these stages with purely hypothetical estimations on their age, glacial and permafrost extent, ice thickness (in the Stockholm region), position of relative sea level (in relation to the present sea level in Stockholm), down-warping and uplift. The ages used (years from now) for the glaciations correspond to the periods when the Stockholm region will be covered by ice. The presented estimations can only be looked upon as rough measures and comparisons between the stages. It should also be noted that these parameters during transition periods between the stages are the most difficult to estimate. That was slightly discussed in the sections above, but is not dealt with here.

Stage a): 20,000–25,000 years, glaciation down to the Stockholm region, permafrost in South Sweden, 800 m ice thickness, relative sea level at -25 m, down-warping of 60 m. Stadial conditions.

Stage b): 25,000-45,000 years, mountain glaciation, permafrost in northern and central Sweden, no ice in Stockholm, relative sea level at -60 m, uplift of 50 m. Interstadial conditions.

Stage c): 55,000–70,000 years, a complete Fennoscandian glaciation including Finland, the Baltic republics, W Russia, northern Poland and Germany, and Denmark, permafrost in large areas of Europe, 2500 m ice thickness, relative sea level at +500 m (at glacial maximum when the Stockholm region is ice-covered) to +100 m (at the end), downwarping of 600 m. Full glacial conditions.

Stage d): 70,000-85,000 years, small mountain glaciers, permafrost in the very north, no ice in Stockholm, relative sea level at 0 m, uplift of 600 m. Interglacial conditions.

Stage e): 95,000-? years, glaciation of larger parts of Fennoscandia, permafrost in large areas outside the ice-margin, 1500 m ice thickness, relative sea level at +400 m to +100 m, down-warping of 500 m. Full glacial conditions.

2. It may be possible to detect and map zones which during lateglacial/postglacial time have been characterised by irregular bedrock movements and which could be reactivated during the future down-warping (glaciations) and uplift (deglaciations) phases.

REFERENCES

- Agassiz L 1840. Études sur les glaciers. Privately published. Neuchatel. 346 pp.
- Agrell H 1986. Neotektonik i mellansverige -- Nya rön om urbergsgrottor. 17e Nordiska Geologmötet, Abstracts p. 3.
- Agrell H 1976. The highest coastline in south-eastern Sweden. Boreas 5, pp. 143-154.
- Anderson A J 1984. Geophysical interpretation of the features of the marine geoid in Fennoscandia. Marine Geophysical Research 7, pp. 191-203.
- Asklund B 1935. Gästrikländska fornstrandlinjer och nivåförändringsproblemen. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning. C 391, 119 pp.
- Assarsson G 1927. Ancylus och Litorinagränser inom Geologiska kartbladet Gusum. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning 344, pp. 1-29.
- Backman J 1979. Pliocene biostratigraphy of DSDP Sites 111 and 116 from the North Atlantic Ocean and the age of the Northern Hemisphere Glaciation. Stockh. Contr. Geol. 32, pp. 115-137.
- Bard E, Arnold M, Duprat J, Moyes J and Duplessy J-C 1987. Retreat velocity of the North Atlantic polar front during the last deglaciation determined by ¹⁴C accelerator mass spectrometry. Nature 328, pp. 791-794.
- Berger A L 1977. Power and limitation of an energy-balance climate model is applied to the astronomical theory of palaeoclimates. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 21, pp. 227-235.
- Berger A L 1978. Long-term variations of caloric insolation resulting from the earth's orbital elements. Quaternary Research 9, pp. 139-167.
- Berger A L 1984. Accuracy and frequency stability of the earth's orbital elements during the Quaternary. In A L Berger, J Imbrie, J Hays, G Kukla and B Salzman (eds.). Milankovitch and climate, pp. 3-39. D Reidel Publishing Company.
- Berglund B E and Lagerlund E 1981. Eemian and Weichselian stratigraphy in south Sweden. Boreas 10, 323-362.
- Berglund B. E. 1964. The Postglacial Shore Displacement in Eastern Blekinge, southeastern Sweden. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 599, pp. 1-47.
- Berglund B E 1966. Late-Quaternary vegetation in eastern Blekinge, southeastern Sweden. A pollen-analytical study. II. Post-Glacial time. Opera Botanica 12:2, 190 pp.
- Bergsten K E 1943. Isälvsfält kring norra Vättern. Meddelanden från Lunds Universitets geografiska insitution Avhandling 7, 245 pp.
- Birchfield G E, Weertman J and Lunde A T 1981. A paleoclimatic model of Northern Hemisphere ice sheets. Quaternary Research 15, pp. 126-142.

- Bjerhammar A 1980. The uplift process in Fennoscandia and the corresponding geopotential field from satellites. Geodesy and Physics of the Earth, 4th International Symp.
- Björck S 1979. Late Weichselian stratigraphy of Blekinge, SE Sweden, and water level changes in the Baltic Ice Lake. University of Lund, Department of Quaternary Geology, Thesis 7, 248 pp.
- Björck S 1981. A stratigraphic study of Late Weichselian deglaciation, shore displacement and vegetation history in south-eastern Sweden. Fossils and Strata 14, 93 pp.
- Björck S 1985. Deglaciation chronology and revegetation in northwestern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 22, pp. 850-871.
- Björck S 1987. An answer to the Ancylus enigma? Presentation of a working hypothesis. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 109, pp. 171-176.
- Björck S 1989. The geodynamic and geologic value of a regional network of shore displacement curves: examples from southern Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 111, pp. 292-295.
- Björck S and Digerfeldt G 1982. Late Weichselian shore displacement at Hunneberg, southern Sweden, indicating complex uplift. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 104, pp. 131-155.
- Björck S and Håkansson S 1982. Radiocarbon dates from Late Weichselian lake sediments in South Sweden as a basis for chronostratigraphic subdivision. Boreas 11, 141-150.
- Björck S and Digerfeldt G 1984. Climatic changes at Pleistocene, Holocene boundary in the Middle Swedish endmoraine zone, mainly inferred from stratigraphic indications. In N.-A. Mörner, W. Karlén (eds.) Climatic Changes on a Yearly to Millennial Basis. Reidel Publishing Company pp. 37-56.
- Björck S and Digerfeldt G 1986. Late Weichselian-Early Holocene shore displacement west of Mt. Billingen, within the Middle Swedish end-moraine zone. Boreas 15, pp. 1-18.
- Björck S and Digerfeldt G 1989. The deglaciation pattern of the central part of the Middle Swedish end moraine zone and related water level changes of the Baltic Ice Lake—presentation of a key site east of Mt. Billingen. Boreas 18, pp. 209-219.
- Björck S and Digerfeldt G 1991. Allerød-Younger Dryas sea level changes in southwestern Sweden and their relation to the Baltic Ice Lake development. Boreas 20, pp. 115-113.
- Björck S and Möller P 1987. Late Weichselian environment history in southeastern Sweden during the deglaciation of the Scandinavian ice-sheet. Quaternary Research 28, pp. 1-37.
- Björck S, Sandgren P and Holmqvist B 1987. A magnetostratigraphic comparison between ¹⁴C years and varve years during the Late Weichselian, indicating significant differences between the time-scales. Journal of Quaternary Science 87, pp. 133-140.
- Björkman H and Trädgårdh J 1982. Differential uplift in Blekinge indicating late-glacial neotectonics. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 104, pp. 75-79.

- Broadbent N 1979. Coastal resources and settlement stability. A critical study of a Mesolitic site complex in northern Sweden. Aun 3, 268 pp.
- Broecker W S and Denton G H 1989. The role of ocean-atmosphere reorganizations in glacial cycles. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 53, pp. 2465-2501.
- Broecker W S, Peteet D M and Rind D 1985. Does the ocean-atmosphere system have more than one stable mode of operation? Nature 315, pp. 21-25.
- Budyko M I 1969. The effect of solar radiation variations on the climate of the Earth. Tellus 21, pp. 611-619.
- Calder N 1974. Arithmetic of ice ages. Nature 252, pp. 216-218.
- Carozzi A V (ed.) 1967. Studies on glaciers preceded by the discourse of Neuchatel by Louis Agassiz. Hafner, New York.
- Cato I 1987. On the definitive connection of the Swedish Time Scale with the present. Sver Geol Unders Ca 68, pp. 1-55.
- Cato I and Lindén A 1973. The highest shore line at Törnevik, southern Östergötland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 95, pp. 25-35.
- Clark J A 1980. The reconstruction of the Laurentide Ice Sheet of North America from sea-level data; method and preliminary results. Journal of Geophysical Research 85, pp. 4307-4323.
- COHMAP members 1988. Climatic changes of the last 18,000 years: observations and model simulations. Science 241, pp. 1043-1052.
- Dansgaard W, Johnsen S J, Clausen H B and Langway C C 1971. Climatic record revealed by the Camp Century ice core. In K. K. Turekian (ed.). The Late Cenozoic glacial ages, pp. 37-56. Yale Univ. Press.
- Dansgaard W, White J W and Johnson S J 1989. The abrupt termination of the Younger Dryas event. Nature 339, pp. 532-534.
- De Geer F 1884, 1885. Om den skandinaviska landisens andra utbredning. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar Bd. VI, H. 7.
- De Geer G 1888, 1890. Om Skandinaviens nivåförändringar under Qvartärperioden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 10, 366-379 (1888) & ibid. 12, 61-110 (1890).
- De Geer G 1910. Södra Sverige i senglacial tid. Öfversiktskarta. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ba 8, (four maps).
- Denton G H and Hughes T J (eds.) 1981. The Last Great Ice Sheets. 484 pp. John Wiley & Sons.
- Digerfeldt G 1972. A preliminary report of an investigation of Littorina transgressions in the Barsebäck area, western Skåne. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 94:4, pp. 537-548.
- Digerfeldt G 1975. A standard profile for Littorina transgressions in western Skåne, South Sweden. Boreas 4, pp. 124-142.
- Digerfeldt G 1979. The Highest shore-line on Hunneberg, southern Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 101, pp. 49-64.
- Digerfeldt G 1981. The Isolation of Laduviken, Stockholm. Striae 14, pp. 151-156.
- Digerfeldt G, Håkansson H and Persson T 1980. Palaeoecological studies of the recent development of the Stockholm lakes Långsjön, Lillsjön and Laduviken. Dept. of Quaternary Geology Lund report 20, 66 pp.

- Dodge R E, Fairbanks R G, Benninger L W and Maurasse F 1983. Pleistocene sea levels from raised coral reefs of Haiti. Science 219, pp. 1423-1425.
- Donner J J 1969. A profile across Fennoscandia of Late Weichselian and Flandrian shore-lines. Societas Scientiarum Fennica, Commentationes Physico-Mathematicae 36, pp. 1-23.
- Donner J J 1978. The dating of the levels of the Baltic Ice Lake and the Salpausselkä moraines in south Finland. Societas Scientiarum Fennica, Commentationes Physico-Mathematicae 48:1, pp. 11-38.
- Donner J J 1982. Fluctuations in water level of the Baltic Ice Lake. In Aartolahti & M. Eronen (eds.), Studies on the Baltic shorelines and sediments indicating relative sea-level changes. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae Ser. A. III. 134, pp. 13-26.
- Duplessy J C, Delibrias G, Turon J L, Pujol C and Duprat J 1981. Deglacial warming of the northeastern Atlantic ocean: correlation with the paleoclimatic evolution of the European continent. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 35, pp. 121-144.
- Duplessy J-C, Arnold M, Maurice P, Bard E, Duprat J and Moyes J 1986. Direct dating of the oxygen-isotope record of the last deglaciation by ¹⁴C accelerator mass spectrometry. Nature 320, pp. 350-352.
- Ekman M 1977. Postglacial land uplift in Fennoscandia and movement of the geoid (in Swedish with an English Summary). National Land Survey of Sweden, Professional Papers 1977/5.
- Ekman M 1986. Apparent Land Uplift at 20 Sea Level Stations in Sweden 1895-1984. National Land Survey, Professional Papers 1986:6, 14 pp.
- Ekman M 1987. Postglacial uplift of the crust in Fennoscandia and some related phenomena. International Association of Geodesy. Section V: Geodynamics. IXX General Assembly. Vancouver, 3 pp.
- Ekman M 1988. The impact of geodynamic phenomena on systems for height and gravity. National Land Survey, Professional Papers 1988:26.
- Ekman M 1989. Impacts of geodynamic phenomena on systems for height and gravity. Bull. Geod. 63, pp. 281-296.
- Ekman M and Sjöberg L E 1984. An analysis of land uplift and mean sea level in Stockholm 1774-1982. 16:e Nordiska geologiska vintermötet, mimeographed report. 8 pp.
- Emiliani C 1955. Pleistocene temperatures. Journ. Geol. 63, pp. 538-578.
- Eronen M 1989. Eemian sea levels and crustal deformation in eastern Fennoscandia. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 111, pp. 295-296.
- Eronen M, Ristaniemi O, and Lange D 1990. Analysis of a sediment core from the Meclenburg Bay, with a discussion on the early Holocene history of the southern Baltic Sea. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 112, pp. 1-8.
- Fairbanks R G 1989. A 17,000-year glacio-eustatic sea level record: influence of glacial melting rates on the Younger Dryas event and deepocean circulation. Nature 342, pp. 637-642.
- Fairbanks R G and Matthews R K 1978. The marine oxygen isotope record in Pleistocene coral, Barbados, West Indies. Quaternary Research 10, pp. 181-196.

- Fjeldskaar W 1989. Rapid eustatic changes never globally uniform. Correlation in Hydrocarbon Exploration, pp. 13-19.
- Fjeldskaar W and Kanestrøm R 1980. Younger Dryas Geoid-deformation Caused by Deglaciation in Fennoscandia. In N.-A. Mörner (ed.), Earth Rheology, Isostacy and Eustacy. John Wiley & Sons pp. 569-574.
- Flodén T and Wintherhalter B 1981. Pre-Quaternary geology of the Baltic Sea. In A. Voipio (ed.), The Baltic Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1-54.
- Forsström L, Aalto M, Eronen M and Grönlund T 1988. Stratigraphic evidence for Eemian crustal movements and relative sea-level changes in eastern Fennoscandia. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 68, pp. 317-335.
- Forsström L, Eronen M and Grönlund T 1987. On marine phases and shore levels of the Eemian Interglacial and Weichselian interstadials on the coast of Ostrobothnia, Finland. Geol. Survey of Finland Special Paper 2, pp. 37-42.
- Fromm E 1976. Beskrivning till jordartskartan Linköping NO. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ae 19, 77 pp.
- Gillberg G 1952. Marina gränsen i Västra Sverige. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 74:1, pp. 71-103.
- Glückert G and Ristaniemi O 1982. The Ancylus transgression west of Helsinki South Finland-A preliminary report. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae A III 134, pp. 99-110.
- Halden B 1934. Högsta kustlinjen i Kilsbergen, Närke. Ett exempel på "deltametodens" användning. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 56, pp. 314-323.
- Hammen T van der and Gonzalez E 1964. A pollen diagram from the Quaternary of the Sabana de Bogota' (Colombia). Geol. Mijnb. N.S. 43, pp. 944f.
- Hartz N and Milthers V 1901. Det senglaciale Ler i Allerød Teglvaerksgrav. Dansk Geol. Foren. Meddel. 1, pp.31-60.
- Hays J D, Imbrie J and Shackleton N J 1976. Variations in the earth's orbit; Pacemaker of the ice ages. Science 194, pp. 1121-1132.
- Hillefors Å 1969. Västsveriges glaciala historia och morfologi. Meddelanden från Lunds Universitets Geografiska Institution, Avhandling 60, 319 pp.
- Hiärne U 1706. Den beswarade och förklarade anledningens andra flock, om jorden och landskap i gemeen. In: Den korta anledningen till åtskillige malm och bergarter, mineraliers och jordeslags etc. efterspörjande och angifwande, besvarad och förklarad. Stockholm, pp. 133-416.
- Hughes T J 1981. Numerical reconstruction of paleo-ice sheets. In G H Denton and T J Hughes (eds.). The Last Great Ice Sheets, pp. 222-261. John Wiley & Sons.
- Hörnsten Å 1964. Ångermanälvens kustland under isavsmältningsskedet. Preliminärt medeelande. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 86, pp. 181-205.
- Imbrie J 1985. A theoretical framework for the Pleistocene ice ages. Journal Geological Society of London 142, pp. 417-432.
- Imbrie J and Imbrie J Z 1980. Modeling the climatic response to orbital variations. Science 207, pp. 943-953.
- Imbrie J and Imbrie K P 1979. Ice Ages solving the mystery. 224 pp. MacMillan Press Ltd.
- Imbrie J, Hays J D, Martinson D G, McIntyre A, Mix A C, Morley J J, Pisias N G, Prell W L and Shackleton N J 1984. The orbital theory of Pleistocene climate: support from a revised chronology of the marine ¹⁸O record. In A L Berger, J Imbrie, J Hays, G Kukla and B Salzman (eds). Milankovitch and climate, pp. 269-305. D Reidel Publishing Company
- Iversen J 1942. En pollenanalytisk Tidsfaestelse af Ferskvandslagene ved Nørre Lyngby. Dansk Geol. Foren. Meddel. 10, pp. 130-151.
- Jansen E 1990. Fra drivhus til kjøleskap? Tertiär klimautvikling i det nordlige Atlanterhavsområdet. Geonytt 17:1, pp. 60.
- Jansen E and Veum T 1990. Evidence for two-step deglaciation and its impact on North Atlantic deep-water circulation. Nature 343, pp. 612-616.
- Jessen K 1935. Archaeological dating in the history of North Jutland's vegetation. Acta Arcaeol. 5, pp. 185-214.
- Johansson S 1926. Baltiska issjöns tappning. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 48, pp. 186-263.
- Johnsson G 1986. Different types of fossil frost fissures in south Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 108, pp. 167-175.
- Kakkuri J 1985. Die Landhebung in Fennoskandien im lichte der heutigen wissenschaft. Zeitschrift für Vermessungswesen 110/2.
- Kessel H and Punning J.-M 1974. About the age of the Ancylus stage in Estonia (radiometric datings). Summary in English. Esti teaduste akadeemia toimetised. Keemia, Geologia 23:1, pp. 59-64.
- Kessel H and Raukas A 1979. Estonia. In V. Gudelis, L.-K. Königsson (eds.) The Quaternary History of the Baltic. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis Symposia Universitatis Upsaliensis Annum Quingentesimum Celebrantis 1, pp. 127-147.
- Kukla J 1970. Correlation between loesses and deep-sea sediments. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 92, pp. 148-180.
- Königsson L-K 1964. Ancylus fluviatilis und Ancylusführende ablagerungen auf Öland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 85, pp. 381-390.
- Königsson L-K 1967a. Die Datierung von Baltischen Ancylus-Lagern unter der höchsten Ancylus-Grenze auf Gotland und Öland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 89, pp. 133-150.
- Königsson L-K 1967b. Östra Ölands strandvallar. Ymer 1967, pp. 112-121.
- Königsson L-K 1968a. The Ancylus transgression in the Skede mosse area, Öland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 90, pp. 5-36.
- Königsson L-K 1968b. The Holocene History of the Great Alvar of Öland. Acta Phytogeographica Suecica 55, 172 pp.
- Lagerbäck R 1979. Neotectonic structures in northern Sweden. Geologiska Föreninmgens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 100, pp. 263-269.
- Lagerbäck R 1988. Periglacial phenomena in the wooded areas of Northern Sweden — relicts from the Tärendö Interstadial. Boreas 17, pp. 487-499.
- Lagerlund E 1977. Till studies and neotectonics in northwest Skåne, south Sweden. Boreas 6, pp. 159-166.

- Lagerlund E 1983. The Pleistocene stratigraphy of Skåne, southern Sweden. In: J. Ehlers (ed), Glacial deposits in Northwest Europe. A.A. Balkema. Rotterdam, pp. 155-159.
- Lagerlund E 1987. An alternative Weichselian glaciation model with special reference to the glacial history of Skåne, South Sweden. Boreas 16, pp. 433-459.
- Lagerlund E 1987. An alternative Weichselian glaciation model, with special reference to the glacial history of Skåne, South Sweden. Boreas 16, pp. 433-459.
- Lidén R 1938. Den senkvartära strandförskjutningens förlopp och kronologi i Ångermanland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 60, pp. 397-404.
- Liivrand E 1987. Regional type section of the Eemian marine deposits on Suur-Prangli (in Russian with an English summary). Proc. of the Acad. of Sciences, Estonian SSR, Geology 36:1, pp. 20-26.
- Liljegren R 1982. Paleoekologi och strandförskjutning i en Littorinavik vid Spjälkö i mellersta Blekinge. University of Lund, Department of Quaternary Geology Thesis 11, 95 pp.
- Lind B 1983. Deglaciationen och högsta kustlinjen i norra Dalsland. Geologiska inst Chalmers tekniska Högskola/Göteborgs Universitet. A 43, 175 pp.
- Lisitzin E 1974. Sea Level Changes. Elsevier 286 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1921. Den baltiska issjöns tappning. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 43, pp. 381-385.
- Lundqvist G 1928. Studier i Ölands myrmarker. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 353, 177 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1931. Jordlagren. In: Lundqvist, G. Häggbom, A. & Westergårdh, AH.: Beskrivning till geologiska kartbladet Lugnås. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Aa 172, 185 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1961. Beskrivning till karta över landisens avsmältning och högsta kustlinjen i Sverige. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ba 18, 148 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1962. Geological radiocarbon datings from the Stockholm station. SGU C 589, 23 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1963. Beskrivning till jordartskarta över Gävlebords län. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning. Ca 42, 181 pp.
- Lundqvist G 1965. C 14-dateringar från Gotland. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 602, 94 pp.
- Lundqvist J 1986. Stratigraphy of the central area of the Scandinavian glaciation. Quaternary Science Reviews 5, pp. 251-268.
- Lundqvist J 1987. Beskrivning till jordartskarta över Västernorrlands län och förutvarande Fjällsjö k:n. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ca 55, 270 pp.
- Lundqvist J and Lagerbäck R 1976. The Pärve Fault: A late-glacial fault in the Precambrian of Swedish Lappland. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 98, pp. 45-51.
- Lykke-Andersen A-L 1987. A Late Saalian, Eemian and Weichselian marine sequence at Nørre Lyngby, Vendsyssel, Denmark. Boreas 16, pp. 345-357.

- Magnusson E 1970. "Kvartära Bildningar" i Beskrivning till geologiska kartbladet Örebro NV. SGU Ae 6.
- Malmberg Persson K 1988. Lithostratigraphic and sedimentological investigations around the eastern boundary of the Baltic deposits in central Scania. Lundqua Thesis 23.
- Mangerud J 1981. The Early and Middle Weichselian in Norway: a review. Boreas 10, pp. 381-393.
- Mikaelsson J 1978. Strandvallskomplexet vid Olsäng. Blekinges Natur 1978, pp. 37-52.
- Milankovitch M M 1941. Kanon der Erdbestrahlung und seine Anwendung auf das Eiszeitproblem. Acad. Roy. Serbe, Éd. spec. 133, 633 pp.
- Miller U 1982. Shore displacement and coastal dwelling in the Stockholm region during the past 5000 years. Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae, Series A, III. Geologica-Geographica 134, pp. 185-211.
- Miller U and Robertsson A-M 1979. Biostratigraphical investigations in the Anundsjö region, Ångermanland. In: Miller U, Modig H, Robertsson A-M 1979. Geological Investigations in the Anundsjö region northern Sweden. Early Norrland 12. Kungliga Vitterhets Historie och Antikvitets Akademin. pp. 1-76.
- Miller U and Robertsson A-M 1981. Current Biostratigraphical Studies connected with Archaeological Excavations in the Stockholm Region. Florilegium Florinis Dedicatum. Societas Upsaliensis Pro Geologia Quaternaria. 14, pp. 167-173.
- Miller U and Robertsson A-M 1988. Late Weichselian and Holocene environmental changes in Bohuslän, southwestern Sweden. Geographica Polonica 55, pp. 103-111.
- Mott R J, Grant D R G, Stea R R and Occhietti S 1986. Late-glacial climatic oscillation in Atlantic Canada equivalent to the Allerød-Younger Dryas event. Nature 323, pp. 247-250.
- Munthe H 1887. Om postglaciala aflagringar med Ancylus fluviatilis på Gotland. Öfversikt af Kongliga Vetenskaps-Akademiens Förhandlingar 10, pp. 719-732.
- Munthe H 1902. Beskrivning till kartbladet Kalmar. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ac 6, 119 pp.
- Munthe H 1910a. Studier över Gottlands senkvartära historia. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ca 4, 213 pp.
- Munthe H 1910b. Studies in the Late-Quaternary history of southern Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 32:5, pp. 1197-1293.
- Munthe H 1940. Om Nordens, främst Baltikums senkvartära utveckling och stenåldersbebyggelse. Kungliga Svenska Vetenskapsakademiens Handlingar. Tredje serien 19:1, 242 pp.
- Munthe H and Hedström H 1904. Beskrifning till kartbladet Mönsterås med Högsby. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ac 8, 132 pp.
- Möller H and Stålhös G 1964. Beskrivning till geologiska kartbladet Stockholm NO. SGU Ae 1, 148 pp.
- Möller H and Stålhös G 1969. Beskrivning till geologiska kartbladet Stockholm SV. SGU Ae 4, 125 pp.

- Mörner N-A 1969. The Late Quaternary history of the Kattegatt Sea and the Swedish West Coast. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 640, 487 pp.
- Mörner N-A 1976a. Eustasy and geoid changes. Journal of Geology 84, pp. 123-151.
- Mörner N-A 1976b. Eustatic changes during the last 8,000 years in view of radiocarbon calibration and new information from the Kattegatt region and other northwestern European coastal areas. Palaeogeography, Palaeo-climatology, Palaeoecology 19, pp. 63-85.
- Mörner N-A 1977. Past and present uplift in Sweden:glacial isostacy, tectonism and bedrock influence. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 99:1, pp. 48-54.
- Mörner N-A 1978. Faulting, fracturing and seismic activity as a function of glacial-isostasy in Fennoscandia. Geology 6, pp. 41-45.
- Mörner N-A 1979. The Fennoscandian uplift and Late Cenozoic geodynamics: geological evidence. GeoJournal 3.3, pp. 287-318.
- Mörner N-A 1980a. The northwest European 'sea-level laboratory' and regional Holocene eustasy. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 29, pp. 281-300.
- Mörner N-A 1980b. The Fennoscandian uplift: geological data and their geodynamic implication. In N.-A. Mörner (ed) Earth Rheology, Isostasy and Eustasy. John Wiley & Sons.
- Mörner N-A 1981. Crustal movements and geodynamics in Fennoscandia. Tectonophysics 71, pp. 241-251.
- Mörner N-A 1985. Paleoseismicity and geodynamics in Sweden. Tectonophysics 117, pp. 139-153.
- Mörner N-A, Somi E and Zuchiewicz W 1989. Neotectonics and paleoseismicity within the Stockholm intracratonal region of Sweden. In N-A Mörner and J Adams (eds). Palaeoseismicity and Neotectonics, Tectonophysics 163, pp. 289-304.
- Nansen F 1922. The strandflat and isostasy. Norsk Vid. Akad. Oslo, Mat. Nat. 11, 350 pp.
- Nilsson E 1937. Bidrag till Vätterns och Bolmens senkvartära historia. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 59, pp. 189-204.
- Nilsson E 1953. Om södra Sveriges senkvartära historia. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 75, pp. 155-246.
- Nilsson E 1968. Södra Sveriges Senkvartära Historia.Geokronologi, issjöar och landhöjning. Kungliga Svenska Vetenskapsakademiens Handlingar Serie 4. Bd 12. No 1, 117 pp.
- Nilsson T 1935. Die pollenanalytische Zonengliederung der spät- und postglazialen Bildungen Schonens. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 57, 385-562.
- Oerlemans J 1980. Model experiments on the 100,000-year glacial cycle. Nature 287, pp. 430-432.
- Olausson E 1965. Evidence of climatic changes in North Atlantic deep-sea cores, with remarks on isotopic paleotemperature analysis. Progress in Oceanography 3, pp. 221-252.
- Peltier W R 1985. New constraints on transient lower mantle rheology and internal mantle buoyancy from glacial rebound data. Nature 318, pp. 614-617.

- Peltier W R 1987. Glacial isostasy, mantle viscosity, and Pleistocene climatic change. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr. Wright (eds.). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation. The Geological Society of America, The Geology of North America, Vol. K-3, pp. 155-182.
- Peltier W R and Hyde W T 1984. A model of the ice age cycle. In A L Berger, J Imbrie, J Hays, G Kukla and B Saltzman (eds.). Milankovitch and climate, pp. 563-580. D Reidel Publishing Company.
- Persson C 1978. Datering av Ancylus- och Littorina- transgressionerna på södra Gotland. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 745, pp. 1-34.
- Persson C 1979. Shore displacement during Ancylus time in the Rejmyra area, south central Sweden. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 755, 23 pp.
- Persson G 1973. Postglacial transgressions in Bohuslän, southwestern Sweden. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 684, 47 pp.
- Philip A 1989a. Figures 14, 99, 114, 115 in Svensson N-O Late Weichselian and early Holocene shoredisplacement in the central Baltic, based on stratigraphical and morphological records from eastern Småland and Gotland, Sweden. Lundqua Thesis 25, 195 pp.
- Pirazzoli PA 1989. Recent Sea-level changes in the North Atlantic. In Late Quaternary Sea-Level Correlation and Applications. Ed. Scott, DB, Pirazzoli, PA, Honig, CA. NATO ASI Series. Series C: Mathematical and Physical Sciences. 256, pp. 153-167.
- Pollard D 1978. An investigation of the astronomical theory of the ice ages using a simple climate-ice sheet model. Nature, 272, pp. 233-235.
- Påsse T 1983. Havsstrandens nivåförändringar i Norra Halland under Holocen tid. Chalmers tekniska högskola, Göteborgs universitet, Geologiska institutionen A45, 174 pp.
- Påsse T 1987. Shore displacement during the Late Weichselian and Holocene in the Sandsjöbacka area, SW Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 109, pp. 197-210.
- Quinlan G and Beaumont C 1981. A comparison of observed and theoretical postglacial relative sea level in Atlantic Canada. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 18, pp. 1146-1163.
- Ramsay W 1924. Den baltiska issjöns tappning. Contributions from the Mineralogical and Geological Institution of the University of Helsinki 1, 6 pp.
- Renberg I and Segerström U 1981. The Initial points on a shoreline displacement curve for southern Västerbotten, dated by varve-counts of lake sediments. Striae 14, pp. 174-176.
- Rind D, Peteet D, Broecker W, McIntyre A and Ruddiman W 1986. The impact of cold North Atlantic sea surface temperatures on climate: implications for the Younger Dryas cooling (11-10k). Climate Dynamics 1, pp. 3-33.
- Ringberg B 1971. Glacialgeologi och isavsmältning i östra Blekinge. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 661, 174 pp.
- Ringberg B 1989. Upper Late Weichselian lithostratigraphy in western Skåne, southernmost Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 111, pp. 319-337.

- Ristaniemi O and Glückert G 1987. The Ancylus transgression in the area of Espoo the First Salpausselkä, southern Finland. Bullentin Geological Society Finland 59, pp. 45-69.
- Robertsson A-M and Persson C 1989. Biostratigraphical studies of three mires in northern Uppland, Sweden. SGU C 821, 19 pp.
- Robison JM 1983. Glaciofluvial sedimentation: A key to the deglaciation of the Laholm area southern Sweden. Lundqua Thesis 13, 92 pp.
- Ruddiman W F and McIntyre A 1981. The Mode and Mechanism of the Last Deglaciation: Oceanic Evidence. Quaternary Research 16, pp. 125– 134.
- Ruddiman W F and Raymo M E 1988. Northern Hemisphere climate regimes during the past 3 Ma: possible tectonic connections. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 318, pp. 411-430.
- Ruddiman W F and Wright Jr H E 1987. Introduction. In W F Ruddiman and H E Jr Wright (eds.). North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation. The Geological Society of America, The Geology of North America Vol. K-3, pp. 1-12.
- Ruddiman W F, Raymo M and McIntyre A 1986. Matuyama 41,000-year cycles; North Atlantic Ocean and Northern Hemisphere ice sheets. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 80, pp. 117-129.
- Rudmark L 1975. The deglaciation of Kalmarsund, southeastern Sweden. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning C 713, 88 pp.
- Rudmark L 1988. Beskrivning till jordartskartan Oskarshamn SO. Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning Ae 84, 90 p.
- Saltzman B, Hansen A R and Maasch K A 1984. The late Quaternary glaciations as the response of a three-component feedback system to Earth-Orbital forcing. Journal of Atmospheric Sciences 41, pp. 3380-3389.
- Sandgren P 1983. The deglaciation of the Klippan area, southern Sweden, a study of glaciofluvial and glaciomarine sediments. Lundqua Thesis 14.
- Sandgren P and Risberg J 1990. Magnetic mineralogy of the sediments in Lake Ådran, eastern Sweden, and an interpretation of early Holocene water level changes. Boreas 19, pp. 57-68.
- Schneider S H and Thompson S L 1979. Ice ages and orbital variations: some simple theory and modeling. Quaternary Research 12, pp. 188-203.
- Shackleton N J 1967. Oxygen isotope analyses and Pleistocene temperatures re-assessed. Nature 215, pp. 15-17.
- Shackleton N J and Opdyke N D 1973. Oxygen isotope and paleomagnetic stratigraphy of equatorial Pacific core V28-238; oxygen isotope temperatures and ice volumes on a 105 and 106 year scale. Quaternary Research 3, pp. 39-55.
- Shackleton N J, Backman J, Zimmerman H, Kent D, Hall M A, Roberts D G, Schnitker D, Baldauf J G, Desprairies A, Homrighausen R, Huddlestun P, Keene J B, Kaltenbach A J, Krumsiek K A O, Morton A C, Murray J W and Westberg-Smith J 1984. Oxygen isotope calibration of the onset of ice-rafting and history of glaciation in the North Atlantic region. Nature 307, pp. 620-623.
- Shane L C K 1987. Late-glacial vegetational and climatic history of the Allegheny Plateau and the till plains of Ohio and Indiana, U.S.A. Boreas 16, pp. 1-20.

Shaw D M and Donn W L 1968. Science 162, pp. 1270-

- Sjöberg L E 1984. Determination of the land uplift from old water marks and tide gauge data at Ratan and Lövgrundet/Björn. 16:e Nordiska geologiska vintermötet, Stockholm. Mimeographed report. 12 pp.
- Sjöberg R 1987. Caves as Indicators of Neotectonics in Sweden. Zeitschrift für Geomorphologie, Suppl. Bd. 63.
- Stea R R and Mott R J 1989. Deglaciation environments and evidence for glaciers of Younger Dryas age in Nova Scotia, Canada. Boreas 18, pp. 169-187.
- Strömberg B 1974. Billingenområdet vid slutet av den senaste istiden. Skaraborgsnatur 11, 16 pp.
- Strömberg B 1977. Deglaciationen vid Billingen och Baltiska issjöns tappning. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 99:1, pp. 92-95.
- Strömberg B 1984. Nya data rörande Baltiska Issjön vid Billingen, Västergötland. Abstracts 16e Nordiska Geologmötet 1984, p 217.
- Strömberg B 1986. Om anknytningen mellan de Svenska och Finska lervarvskronologierna. Abstracts 17e Nordiska Geologmötet 1986 p. 193.
- Stuiver M, Kromer B, Becker B and Ferguson W F 1986. Radiocarbon age calibration back to 13,300 years B P and the ¹⁴C age matching of the German Oak and the U S Bristlecone Pine. Radiocarbon 28, 2B, pp. 969-979.
- Suarez M J and Held I M 1976. Modelling climate response to orbital parameter variations. Nature 263, pp. 46-47.
- Svedhage K 1985. Shore displacement during Late Weichselian and early Holocene in the Risveden area, SW Sweden. Chalmers tekniska högskola, Göteborgs universitet, Geologiska institutionen A 51, 111 pp.
- Svensson H 1974. Distribution and chronology of relict polygon patterns on the Laholm plain, the Swedish west coast. Geogr. Annaler 54A, pp. 159-175.
- Svensson H 1982. A low-lying polygon locality on the Laholm plain, Swedish west coast. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 104, pp. 69-73.
- Svensson N-O 1985. Some Preliminary Results on the Early Holocene Shore Displacement in the Oskarshamn Area, South Eastern Sweden. Eiszeitalter und Gegenwart 35, pp. 119-133.
- Svensson N-O 1989. Late Weichselian and early Holocene shore displacement in the central Baltic, based on stratigraphical and morphological records from eastern Småland and Gotland, Sweden. Lundqua Thesis 25, 195 pp.
- Svensson N-O 1991a. Late Weichselian and early Holocene shore displacement in the central Baltic sea. Quaternary International 9, pp. 7-26.
- Svensson N-O 1991b. Postglacial land uplift patterns of Sweden and the Baltic Sea region, TERRA NOVA 3, pp. 369-378.
- Thomasson H 1926. Strandlinjer på Skägganäs. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 48, pp. 429-440.
- Ussisoo I 1977. Computation of land uplift and mean sea level in Sweden. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 99:1, pp. 42-48.

- Wedel P 1967. Några MG-bestämmelser i Norra Halland. In: Teknik och Natur. Studier tillägnade Gunnar Beskow. Göteborg. pp. 419-433.
- Wedel P 1971. The Gothenburg Moraine. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 93, pp. 525-536.
- Weertman J 1964. Rate of growth or shrinkage of non-equilibrum ice sheets. Journal of Glaciology 5, pp. 145-158.
- Weertman J 1976. Milankovitch solar radiation variations and ice-age sheet sizes. Nature 261, pp. 17-20.
- Wu P and Peltier W R 1983. Glacial isostatic adjustment and the free air gravity anomaly as a constraint on deep mantle viscosity. Geophysical Journal of the Royal Astronomical Society 76, pp. 753-791.
- Åse L-E 1970. Shore displacement in Eastern Svealand and Åland during the last 4000 years. Meddelanden Naturgeografiska Institutionen Stockholms Universitet A.31, 20 pp.
- Åse L-E and Bergström E 1982. The ancient shorelines of the Uppsala esker around Uppsala and the shore displacement. Geografiska Annaler 64 ser. A. (3-4), pp. 229-244.

List of SKB reports

Annual Reports

1977-78 TR 121 **KBS Technical Reports 1 – 120** Summaries Stockholm, May 1979

1979

TR 79-28

The KBS Annual Report 1979 KBS Technical Reports 79-01 – 79-27

Summaries Stockholm, March 1980

1980

TR 80-26 The KBS Annual Report 1980

KBS Technical Reports 80-01 – 80-25 Summaries Stockholm, March 1981

1981

TR 81-17 The KBS Annual Report 1981

KBS Technical Reports 81-01 – 81-16 Summaries Stockholm, April 1982

1982

TR 82-28 The KBS Annual Report 1982

KBS Technical Reports 82-01 – 82-27 Summaries Stockholm, July 1983

1983

TR 83-77 The KBS Annual Report 1983

KBS Technical Reports 83-01 – 83-76 Summaries Stockholm, June 1984

1984

TR 85-01 Annual Research and Development Report 1984

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1984. (Technical Reports 84-01 – 84-19) Stockholm, June 1985

1985

TR 85-20

Annual Research and Development Report 1985

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1985. (Technical Reports 85-01 – 85-19) Stockholm, May 1986

1986 TR 86-31 SKB Annual Report 1986

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1986 Stockholm, May 1987

1987 TR 87-33

SKB Annual Report 1987

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1987 Stockholm, May 1988

1988

TR 88-32 SKB Annual Report 1988

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1988 Stockholm, May 1989

1989

TR 89-40 SKB Annual Report 1989

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1989 Stockholm, May 1990

1990

TR 90-46

SKB Annual Report 1990

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1990 Stockholm, May 1991

1991

TR 91-64

SKB Annual Report 1991

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1991 Stockholm, April 1992

Technical Reports List of SKB Technical Reports 1992

TR 92-01 **GEOTAB. Overview** Ebbe Eriksson¹, Bertil Johansson², Margareta Gerlach³, Stefan Magnusson², Ann-Chatrin Nilsson⁴, Stefan Sehlstedt³, Tomas Stark¹ ¹SGAB, ²ERGODATA AB, ³MRM Konsult AB ⁴KTH January 1992

Sternö study site. Scope of activities and main results

Kaj Ahlbom¹, Jan-Erik Andersson², Rune Nordqvist², Christer Ljunggren³, Sven Tirén², Clifford Voss⁴ ¹Conterra AB, ²Geosigma AB, ³Renco AB, ⁴U.S. Geological Survey January 1992

TR 92-03

Numerical groundwater flow calculations at the Finnsjön study site – extended regional area

Björn Lindbom, Anders Boghammar Kemakta Consultants Co, Stockholm March 1992

TR 92-04

Low temperature creep of copper intended for nuclear waste containers

P J Henderson, J-O Österberg, B Ivarsson Swedish Institute for Metals Research, Stockholm March 1992

TR 92-05

Boyancy flow in fractured rock with a salt gradient in the groundwater – An initial study

Johan Claesson Department of Building Physics, Lund University, Sweden February 1992

TR 92-06

Characterization of nearfield rock – A basis for comparison of repository concepts

Roland Pusch, Harald Hökmark Clay Technology AB and Lund University of Technology December 1991

TR 92-07 Discrete fracture modelling of the Finnsjön rock mass: Phase 2

J E Geier, C-L Axelsson, L Hässler, A Benabderrahmane Golden Geosystem AB, Uppsala, Sweden April 1992

TR 92-08

Statistical inference and comparison of stochastic models for the hydraulic conductivity at the Finnsjön site

Sven Norman Starprog AB April 1992

TR 92-09

Description of the transport mechanisms and pathways in the far field of a KBS-3 type repository

Mark Elert¹, Ivars Neretnieks², Nils Kjellbert³, Anders Ström³ ¹Kemakta Konsult AB ²Royal Institute of Technology ³Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co April 1992

TR 92-10

Description of groundwater chemical data in the SKB database GEOTAB prior to 1990

Sif Laurent¹, Stefan Magnusson², Ann-Chatrin Nilsson³ ¹IVL, Stockholm ²Ergodata AB, Göteborg ³Dept. of Inorg. Chemistry, KTH, Stockholm April 1992

TR 92-11

Numerical groundwter flow calculations at the Finnsjön study site – the influence of the regional gradient

Björn Lindbom, Anders Boghammar Kemakta Consultants Co., Stockholm, Sweden April 1992

TR 92-12 HYDRASTAR – a code for stochastic simulation of groundwater flow

Sven Norman Abraxas Konsult May 1992

TR 92-13

Radionuclide solubilities to be used in SKB 91

Jordi Bruno¹, Patrik Sellin² ¹MBT, Barcelona Spain ²SKB, Stockholm, Sweden June 1992

TR 92-14

Numerical calculations on heterogeneity of groundwater flow

Sven Follin Department of Land and Water Resources, Royal Institute of Technology June 1992

Kamlunge study site. Scope of activities and main results

Kaj Ahlbom¹, Jan-Erik Andersson², Peter Andersson², Thomas Ittner², Christer Ljunggren³, Sven Tirén² ¹Conterra AB ²Geosigma AB ³Renco AB May 1992

TR 92-16

Equipment for deployment of canisters with spent nuclear fuel and bentonite buffer in horisontal holes

Vesa Henttonen, Miko Suikki JP-Engineering Oy, Raisio, Finland June 1992

TR 92-17

The implication of fractal dimension in hydrogeology and rock mechanics Version 1.1

W Dershowitz¹, K Redus¹, P Wallmann¹, P LaPointe¹, C-L Axelsson² ¹Golder Associates Inc., Seattle, Washington, USA ²Golder Associates Geosystem AB, Uppsala, Sweden February 1992

TR 92-18

Stochastic continuum simulation of mass arrival using a synthetic data set. The effect of hard and soft conditioning

Kung Chen Shan¹, Wen Xian Huan¹, Vladimir Cvetkovic¹, Anders Winberg² ¹ Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm ² Conterra AB, Gothenburg June 1992

TR 92-19

Partitioning and transmutation. A review of the current state of the art

Mats Skålberg, Jan-Olov Liljenzin Department of Nuclear Chemistry, Chalmers University of Technology October 1992

TR 92-20 SKB 91 Final disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Importance of the bedrock for safety SKB May 1992

TR 92-21

The Protogine Zone.

Geology and mobility during the last 1.5 Ga

Per-Gunnar Andréasson, Agnes Rodhe September 1992

TR 92-22

Klipperås study site. Scope of activities and main results

Kaj Ahlbom¹, Jan-Erik Andersson², Peter Andersson², Tomas Ittner², Christer Ljunggren³, Sven Tirén² ¹Conterra AB ²Geosigma AB ³Renco AB September 1992

TR 92-23

Bedrock stability in Southeastern Sweden. Evidence from fracturing in the Ordovician limestones of Northern Öland

Alan Geoffrey Milnes¹, David G Gee² ¹Geological and Environmental Assessments (GEA), Zürich, Switzerland ²Geologiska Institutionen, Lund, Sweden September 1992

TR 92-24

Plan 92

Costs for management of the radioactive waste from nuclear power production

Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co June 1992

TR 92-25

Gabbro as a host rock for a nuclear waste repository

Kaj Ahlbom¹, Bengt Leijon¹, Magnus Liedholm², John Smellie¹ ¹Conterra AB ²VBB VIAK September 1992

TR 92-26

Copper canisters for nuclear high level waste disposal. Corrosion aspects

Lars Werme, Patrik Sellin, Nils Kjellbert Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co, Stockholm, Sweden October 1992

Thermo-mechanical FE-analysis of buttwelding of a Cu-Fe canister for spent nuclear fuel

B L Josefson¹, L Karlsson², L-E Lindgren², M Jonsson²

¹Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden

²Division of Computer Aided Design, Luleå University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden October 1992

TR 92-28

A rock mechanics study of Fracture Zone 2 at the Finnsjön site

Bengt Leijon¹, Christer Ljunggren² ¹Conterra AB ²Renco AB January 1992

TR 92-29

Release calculations in a repository of the very long tunnel type

L Romero, L Moreno, I Neretnieks Department of Chemical Engineering, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden November 1992

TR 92-30

Interaction between rock, bentonite buffer and canister. FEM calculations of some mechanical effects on the canister in different disposal concepts

Lennart Börgesson Clay Technology AB, Lund Sweden July 1992

TR 92-31

The Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory: Final evaluation of the hydrogeochemical pre-investigations in relation to existing geologic and hydraulic conditions

John Smellie¹, Marcus Laaksoharju² ¹Conterra AB, Uppsala, Sweden ²GeoPoint AB, Stockholm, Sweden November 1992

TR 92-32

Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory: Evaluation of the combined longterm pumping and tracer test (LPT2) in borehole KAS06

Ingvar Rhén¹ (ed.), Urban Svensson² (ed.), Jan-Erik Andersson³, Peter Andersson³, Carl-Olof Eriksson³, Erik Gustafsson³, Thomas Ittner³, Rune Nordqvist³ ¹VBB VIAK AB ²Computer-aided Fluid Engineering ³Geosigma AB November 1992

TR 92-33

Finnsjö Study site. Scope of activities and main results

Kaj Ahlbom¹, Jan-Erik Andersson², Peter Andersson², Thomas Ittner², Christer Ljunggren³, Sven Tirén² ¹Conterra AB ²Geosigma AB ³Renco AB December 1992

TR 92-34

Sensitivity study of rock mass response to glaciation at Finnsjön, Central Sweden

Jan Israelsson¹, Lars Rosengren¹, Ove Stephansson² ¹Itasca Geomekanik AB, Falun, Sweden ²Royal Institute of Technology, Dept. of Engineering Geology, Stockholm, Sweden November 1992

TR 92-35

Calibration and validation of a stochastic continuum model using the Finnsjön Dipole Tracer Test. A contribution to INTRAVAL Phase 2

Kung Chen Shan¹, Vladimir Cvetkovic¹, Anders Winberg² ¹Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm ²Conterra AB, Göteborg December 1992

TR 92-36

Numerical simulation of double-packer tests in heterogeneous media

Sven Follin Department of Engineering Geology, Lund University, Lund, Sweden December 1992

Thermodynamic modelling of bentonite-groundwater interaction and implications for near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel Hans Wanner, Paul Wersin, Nicolas Sierro MBT Umwelttechnik AG, Zürich, Switzerland

November 1992